
TENTATIVE AGENDA 

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

REGULAR MEETING 

 AIR POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD 

Nashville Room, 3rd Floor Tennessee Tower 

312 Rosa L. Parks Avenue 

In Person and 

Remote Access Via WebEx link 

Wednesday May 10, 2023 

9:30 A.M.  

Item Presenter Page 

1. Roll Call 

2. Approval of the February 08, 2023, Board 

Meeting Minutes 

3. APC Chapters (0400-30-39) – (1200-03-07) 

Municipal Solid Waste Landfills 

Travis Blake 

4. General Business 

1. Knoxville 03 Maintenance Plan

2. Shelby County 3rd Quarter Report
Mark Reynolds 
Marc Corrigan 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 1

02

05

48
58



Page 1 of 3 

Air Pollution Control Board 
of the 

State of Tennessee 
Regular Meeting 

On Wednesday February 08, 2023, at 9:30 A.M., the Air Pollution Control Board of the State 
of Tennessee, (hereinafter, referred to as the “Board”), began its meeting on the 3rd Floor of 
the Tennessee Tower.  The following Board members were physically present. 

Dr. Ronne’ Adkins 
Dr. John Benitez 

Dr. Joshua Fu 
Dr. Shawn Hawkins 
Mr. Richard Holland 
Mayor Ken Moore 

Mr. Stephen Moore 
Ms. Amy Spann 

Mayor Larry Waters 
Mr. Jimmy West 

The following Board members joined the meeting via WebEx: 
Dr. Chunrong Jia 

The following Board member was absent: 
Mr. Mike Haverstick 
Ms. Caitlin Jennings 

Since the Chairman, David Salyers, P.E., could not attend the meeting, Dr. Ronne’ Adkins 
represented the Chairman by proxy.  Ms. Michelle Owenby, Director, Division of Air Pollution 
Control, served as Technical Secretary. 

The Vice-Chairman, Mayor Larry Waters, called the meeting to order and asked for a roll call 
and the response was as follows: 

Dr. Adkins Present Dr. Benitez Present 

Mr. Haverstick Absent Dr. Hawkins Present 

Mr. Holland Present Ms. Caitlin Jennings Absent 

Mayor Moore Present Mr. Moore Present 

Ms. Spann Present Mayor Waters Present 

Mr. West Present Dr. Jia  Present 

Dr. Fu 

Ten (10) Board members were present, one (1) participated via WebEx and two (2) were 
absent.   

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 2



Page 2 of 3 

The next item on the agenda was the approval of the minutes from the January 11, 2023, 
Board meeting. The Vice-Chairman requested a motion to approve the minutes. Mayor 
Moore made a motion to approve the minutes and Dr. Fu seconded the motion.  The Vice-
Chairman asked if there were any additions or corrections to the minutes. Hearing none, the 
Vice-Chair asked for a roll call and the response was as follows: 

Dr. Adkins Yes Dr. Benitez Yes 

Dr. Fu Yes Dr. Hawkins Yes 

Mr. Holland Yes Dr. Jia Yes 

Mayor Moore Yes Mr. S. Moore Yes 

Ms. Spann Yes Mayor Waters Yes 

Mr. West Yes 

The motion carried with Eleven (11) affirmative votes; the minutes were approved as 
presented. 

The Vice-Chairman called on Mr. Travis Blake with Air Pollution Control to present the 
Sullivan County SO2 SIP Board Order number 23-002. 

Mr. Travis Blake with the Division of Air Pollution Control Travis Blake presented the 
attainment demonstration for the Sullivan County sulfur dioxide nonattainment area to the 
Board for approval.  The attainment demonstration requires Eastman Chemical Company to 
operate controls on two coal-fired boilers, establishes new sulfur dioxide emission limits for 
the facility’s boilers and hazardous waste incinerators, and adopts other measures to comply 
with the requirements of the federal Clean Air Act. 

The Vice-Chairman requested a motion to approve the Sullivan County SO2 SIP Board Order 
number 23-002. Mayor Moore made a motion to approve the Board Order and Dr. Jia 
seconded the motion.  The Vice-Chair asked for a roll call and the response was as follows: 

Dr. Adkins Yes Dr. Benitez Yes 

Dr. Fu Yes Dr. Hawkins Yes 

Mr. Holland Yes Dr. Jia Yes 

Mayor Moore Yes Mr. S. Moore Abstain 

Ms. Spann Yes Mayor Waters Yes 

Mr. West Yes 

The motion carried with Ten (10) affirmative votes One (Abstain); the Sullivan County SO2 
SIP Board Order number 23-002 was approved as presented. 

The Vice-Chairman called on Mr. Mark Reynolds with the Division of Air Pollution Control to 
present the NESAHP Rule Revision Update.   

Mr. Mark Reynolds, Division of Air Pollution Control, provided an overview of the National 
Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP) rule revision.  Mr. Reynolds stated 
that the Federal NESHAP rule are incorporated by reference in state rules in TAPCR 0400-30-
38. The Board approved the previous NESHAP rule in June 2022 and the rule became state

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 3



Page 3 of 3 

effective on December 28, 2022.  The rule adopted the July 1, 2020, version of 40 CFR Parts 
61 and 63.  This current proposed rule will adopt the July 1, 2022, version of 40 CFR Parts 61 
and 63.  By keeping the CFR date current, the Board will be able to keep the state regulations 
in line with the federal regulations and will be able to enforce the federal regulations directly. 
Mr. Reynolds also stated that the proposed rule revision will make minor amendments to 
the Asbestos NESHAP.  Mr. Reynolds concluded by answering questions from the Board 
members. 

There being no further business to discuss before the Board, nor members of the public 
wishing to address the Board, the meeting was adjourned at 10:01am. 

_____________________________________________ 
(Signed) Michelle Owenby, Technical Secretary 
Tennessee Air Pollution Control Board 

Approved at Nashville, Tennessee on, 2023 

____________________________________________ 
(Signed) Mayor Larry Waters, Vice-Chairman 
Tennessee Air Pollution Control Board 

__________________________________________ 
(Signed) David Salyers, Chairman  
Tennessee Air Pollution Control Board 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 4



SS-7039 (November 2022) 1 RDA 1693 

Department of State 
Division of Publications 
312 Rosa L. Parks Ave., 8th Floor, Snodgrass/TN Tower 
Nashville, TN 37243 
Phone: 615-741-2650 
Email: publications.information@tn.gov 

For Department of State Use Only 

Sequence Number: 

Rule ID(s): 

File Date: 

Effective Date: 

Rulemaking Hearing Rule(s) Filing Form 
Rulemaking Hearing Rules are rules filed after and as a result of a rulemaking hearing (Tenn. Code Ann. § 4-5-205). 

Pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 4-5-229, any new fee or fee increase promulgated by state agency rule shall take effect on July 1, following the 
expiration of the ninety (90) day period as provided in § 4-5-207. This section shall not apply to rules that implement new fees or fee increases 
that are promulgated as emergency rules pursuant to § 4-5-208(a) and to subsequent rules that make permanent such emergency rules, as 
amended during the rulemaking process. In addition, this section shall not apply to state agencies that did not, during the preceding two (2) fiscal 
years, collect fees in an amount sufficient to pay the cost of operating the board, commission or entity in accordance with § 4-29-121(b). 

Agency/Board/Commission: Air Pollution Control Board 

Division: Air Pollution Control 

Contact Person: Travis Blake 

Address: William R. Snodgrass Tennessee Tower 
312 Rosa L. Parks Avenue, 15th Floor 
Nashville, Tennessee 

Zip: 37243 

Phone: (615) 532-0617

Email: Travis.Blake@tn.gov 

Revision Type (check all that apply): 

X Amendment Content based on previous emergency rule filed on ______________ 

X New Content is identical to the emergency rule 

Repeal 

Rule(s) (ALL chapters and rules contained in filing must be listed here. If needed, copy and paste additional 
tables to accommodate multiple chapters. Please make sure that ALL new rule and repealed rule numbers are 
listed in the chart below. Please enter only ONE Rule Number/Rule Title per row.) 

Chapter Number Chapter Title 

0400-30-39 Standards of Performance for New Stationary Sources 

Rule Number Rule Title 

0400-30-39-.03 Emission Guidelines and Compliance Times for Municipal Solid Waste Landfills 

Chapter Number Chapter Title 

1200-03-07 Process Emission Standards 

Rule Number Rule Title 

1200-03-07-.07 General Provisions and Applicability for Process Gaseous Emission Standards 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 5



SS-7039 (November 2022) 2 RDA 1693 

Place substance of rules and other info here. Please be sure to include a detailed explanation of the changes 
being made to the listed rule(s). Statutory authority must be given for each rule change. For information on 
formatting rules go to  
https://sos.tn.gov/products/division-publications/rulemaking-guidelines. 

Chapter 0400-30-39 
Standards of Performance for New Stationary Sources 

New Rule 

Chapter 0400-30-39 Standards of Performance for New Stationary Sources is amended by adding a new rule to 
read as follows: 

0400-30-39-.03 Emission Guidelines and Compliance Times for Municipal Solid Waste Landfills 

(1) Each municipal solid waste landfill for which construction, reconstruction, or modification was commenced
on or before July 17, 2014, that has accepted waste at any time since November 8, 1987, or has additional
design capacity available for future waste deposition, shall satisfy the following standards and requirements:

(a) For the purpose of this paragraph, the definitions listed in 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO, §
60.16730 (2022) apply, except as follows:

1. "Administrator" means the Technical Secretary of the Tennessee Air Pollution Control
Board, except that with respect to 40 C.F.R. §§ 62.16710(b) (and the specific authorities
enumerated therein), 62.16711(b), 62.16712(a)(5), 62.16718(a)(5), and 62.16724
“Administrator” means the Administrator of the United States Environmental Protection
Agency or the Administrator’s authorized representative.

2. “State” means the State of Tennessee.

(b) All facilities subject to this paragraph shall comply with the provisions of 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart
OOO, §§ 62.16710 through 62.16730 (2022).

(c) The provisions of 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO (Federal Plan Requirements for Municipal Solid
Waste Landfills That Commenced Construction On or Before July 17, 2014, and Have Not Been
Modified or Reconstructed Since July 17, 2014), as published in the July 1, 2022, edition of the
Code of Federal Regulations, are hereby adopted by reference. If the definitions in 40 C.F.R. Part
62 Subpart OOO, as incorporated, conflict with the definitions in subparagraph (a) of this
paragraph, the definitions in subparagraph (a) of this paragraph shall apply.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 4-5-201 et seq. and 68-201-101 et seq. 

Chapter 1200-03-07 
Process Emission Standards 

Amendments 

Paragraph (7) of Rule 1200-03-07-.07 General Provisions and Applicability for Process Gaseous Emission 
Standards is amended by deleting it in its entirety and substituting instead the following: 

(7) Reserved. (See Rule 0400-30-39-.03.)

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 4-5-201 et seq. and 68-201-101 et seq. 

Paragraph (9) of Rule 1200-03-07-.07 General Provisions and Applicability for Process Gaseous Emission 
Standards is amended by deleting it in its entirety and substituting instead the following: 

(9) Reserved. (See Rule 0400-30-39-.03.)

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 4-5-201 et seq. and 68-201-101 et seq. 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 6



SS-7039 (November 2022) 3 RDA 1693 

* If a roll-call vote was necessary, the vote by the Agency on these rulemaking hearing rules was as follows:

Board Member Aye No Abstain Absent Signature 
(if required) 

Dr. Ronné Adkins 
Commissioner's Designee, Dept. of 
Environment and Conservation 

Dr. John Benitez 
Licensed Physician with experience in health 
effects of air pollutants 

Dr. Joshua Fu 
Involved with Institution of Higher Learning on 
air pollution evaluation and control 

Mike Haverstick  
Working in management in Private 
Manufacturing 

Dr. Shawn A. Hawkins 
Working in field related to Agriculture or 
Conservation 

Richard Holland 
Working for Industry with technical experience 

Caitlin Roberts Jennings 
Small Generator of Air Pollution representing 
Automotive Interests 

Dr. Chunrong Jia 
Environmental Interests 

Ken Moore 
Working in Municipal Government 

Stephen Moore 
Working for Industry with technical experience 

Amy Spann, PE 
Registered Professional Engineer 

Vacant 
Conservation Interest 

Larry Waters 
County Mayor 

Jimmy West 
Commissioner's Designee, Dept. of Economic 
and Community Development 

I certify that this is an accurate and complete copy of rulemaking hearing rules, lawfully promulgated and adopted 
by the Air Pollution Control Board on 05/10/2023, and is in compliance with the provisions of T.C.A. § 4-5-222. 

I further certify the following: 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 7



SS-7039 (November 2022) 4 RDA 1693 

Notice of Rulemaking Hearing filed with the Department of State on: 10/10/2022 

Rulemaking Hearing(s) Conducted on: (add more dates). 12/06/2022 

Date: 

Signature:  

Name of Officer: Michelle W. Owenby 

Title of Officer:  Technical Secretary 

Agency/Board/Commission: 

Rule Chapter Number(s):  0400-30-39 and 1200-03-07 

All rulemaking hearing rules provided for herein have been examined by the Attorney General and Reporter of the 
State of Tennessee and are approved as to legality pursuant to the provisions of the Administrative Procedures 
Act, Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 4, Chapter 5.  

______________________________ 
Jonathan Skrmetti 

Attorney General and Reporter 

______________________________ 
Date 

Department of State Use Only 

Filed with the Department of State on: 

Effective on: 

_________________________________ 
Tre Hargett 

Secretary of State 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 8



SS-7039 (November 2022) 5 RDA 1693 

Public Hearing Comments 

One copy of a document that satisfies T.C.A. § 4-5-222 must accompany the filing. 

All comments were submitted by U. S. EPA: 

1. Comment: The cover letter of Tennessee’s pre-hearing submittal states that this submittal is a “prehearing
draft copy of Tennessee’s Clean Air Act §111(d) Plan submittal for compliance with 40 C.F.R. Part 
60 Subpart Cf [and that] Tennessee proposes to comply with Subpart Cf by incorporating the 
equivalent federal plan (40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO) by reference.” However, one of the newly 
proposed rules – Regulation 0400-30-39-.03(1)(a)1 – states that “‘Administrator’ means the 
Technical Secretary of the Tennessee Air Pollution Control Board in those cases for which authority 
to implement and enforce provisions of the rule have been delegated to the State of Tennessee. 
Otherwise, ‘Administrator’ means the Administrator of the United States Environmental Protection 
Agency.” (Emphasis added). Because this particular rule discusses delegation, it is unclear if 
Tennessee is intending to request delegation of the Federal Plan or is intending to submit its own 
Section 111(d) plan based upon the Federal Plan as stated in the prehearing submittal cover letter. 
For the remainder of EPA’s comments, EPA will assume that Tennessee is intending to submit its 
own plan under Section 111(d). 

Response:  Tennessee is submitting a 111(d) plan and not a delegation request. The “delegation” language to 
which EPA refers is included in Rule 0400-30-39-.03(1)(a)1, and this language reflects EPA’s own 
language in 40 C.F.R. § 62.16710(b) (“The following authorities will not be delegated to state, local, 
or tribal agencies”). Tennessee has revised the language of Rule 0400-30-39-.03(1)(a)1 (see 
response to comment #2) to remove the reference to delegation.   

2. Comment: Tennessee’s pre-hearing plan proposes to adopt a new rule that states, in part, the following:

• “All facilities subject to this paragraph shall comply with the provisions of 40 C.F.R. Part 62
Subpart OOO, §§ 62.16710 through 62.16730.”

• “The provisions of 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO (Federal Plan Requirements for Municipal
Solid Waste Landfills That Commenced Construction On or Before July 17, 2014, and Have
Not Been Modified or Reconstructed Since July 17, 2014), as published in the July 1, 2022,
edition of the Code of Federal Regulations, are hereby adopted by reference.”

While EPA believes as a general matter that adopting by reference the substantive requirements 
applicable to sources within 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO (hereafter “Federal Plan”) into 
Tennessee’s regulations could form the basis of an approvable Subpart Cf plan, Tennessee’s 
proposed blanket adoption of this rule presents two categories of concerns that should be 
addressed before submitting the plan to EPA. 

First, there are certain provisions within the Federal Plan that explicitly cannot be delegated to 
states. See generally 40 C.F.R. § 62.16710(b). Adoption of provisions of the type discussed in 40 
C.F.R. § 62.16710(b) could render the plan unapprovable by EPA. While EPA recognizes that
Tennessee appears to not be seeking delegation of the Federal Plan and is instead proposing to
submit a state plan based on the Federal Plan, many of the same limitations on the scope of
delegation of the Federal Plan nonetheless still apply. For example, 40 C.F.R. § 62.16718(a)(5) –
which allows EPA to approve alternative NMOC concentration monitoring approaches and is a
provision that Tennessee is proposing to adopt by reference – cannot be delegated to states under
40 C.F.R. § 62.16710(b). Likewise, EPA does not believe that it could approve this type of
provision in Tennessee’s Section 111(d) state plan because it would provide substantial discretion
to TDEC to approve “other methods to determine the NMOC concentration or a site-specific
methane generation rate constant as an alternative…” One possible approach to address this
comment would be for TDEC to adopt by reference 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO, except for
any provisions of the types referenced in 40 C.F.R. § 62.16710(b).

Second, there are certain other provisions within 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO that may be 
problematic to adopt by reference in full. Examples of such provisions include: 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 9



SS-7039 (November 2022) 6 RDA 1693 

• § 62.16710(b) (this provision lists authorities that cannot be delegated by EPA)

• § 62.16711(b) (this provision uses the phrase “EPA-approved”)

• § 62.16712(a)(5) (this provision uses the phrase “EPA-approved”)

• § 62.16718(a)(5) (this provision discusses approval of alternative methods to determine NMOC
concentration)

• § 62.16724 (these provisions contain reporting guidelines that reference EPA and certain

• EPA reporting systems, such as the Central Data Exchange)

Response: Tennessee revised the definition of “Administrator” in Rule 0400-30-39-.03(1)(a)1 as follows to 
address EPA’s concerns: 

"Administrator" means the Technical Secretary of the Tennessee Air Pollution Control Board, 
except that with respect to 40 C.F.R. §§ 62.16710(b) (and the specific authorities enumerated 
therein), 62.16711(b), 62.16712(a)(5), 62.16718(a)(5), and 62.16724, “Administrator” means the 
Administrator of the United States Environmental Protection Agency or the Administrator’s 
authorized representative. 

Incorporations by reference frequently capture provisions for which authority is not delegated to the 
state or local agency, and there is no reason to exclude the specific provisions enumerated by EPA 
from the final rule. 

3. Comment: EPA recommends that TDEC consider adding language to the narrative which informs
reviewers/users that until a state plan is approved, EPA is required to administer the Federal Plan 
within Tennessee. Related to this topic, EPA additionally recommends including language in the 
narrative indicating whether and how the state intends to incorporate any EPA determinations 
undertaken during the course of implementing the Federal Plan. Alternatively, TDEC may choose 
to address this issue on a case-by-case basis for each individual facility. 

Response: EPA’s requested language was added to the table of 111(d) plan requirements, which was 
separately the subject of a public hearing on December 6, 2022. Regarding EPA’s related issue 
(EPA determinations undertaken during the course of implementing the Federal Plan), any such 
requirements will be addressed on a case-by-case basis for each individual facility.   

4. Comment: Page 12, Rule 0400-30-39-.03(1)(d) states “[f]or any facility subject to this paragraph, compliance
with 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO, as adopted herein, ensures compliance with the requirements 
codified in 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subparts Cc, Cf, and WWW.” At the same time, Tennessee proposes 
to repeal Rules 1200-03-07-.07(7) and 1200-03-07-07(9), which implement the landfill 
requirements established by 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart WWW (Standards of Performance for 
Municipal Solid Waste Landfills) and 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart Cc (Emission Guidelines and 
Compliance Times for Municipal Solid Waste Landfills). EPA recommends removing the proposed 
language in Rule 0400-30-39-.03(1)(d) because this language may have unintended 
consequences. For example, portions of 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO regarding certain legacy 
landfills allow for compliance with aspects of the Federal Plan through compliance with portions of 
40 C.F.R. Part 60, Subpart WWW; Subpart GGG of 40 C.F.R. Part 62; or a state plan implementing 
40 C.F.R. Part 60, Subpart Cc. Rule 0400-30-39-.03(1)(d) appears to propose the inverse here.  

Response: The proposed language of Rule 0400-30-39-.03(1)(d) was removed from the final rule. EPA’s 
revision to 40 C.F.R. § 60.750(d)(1) states that municipal solid waste landfills must continue to 
comply with Subpart WWW until they become subject to the more stringent requirements in an 
approved and effective state or federal plan that implements 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart Cf. This 
EPA revision accomplishes the intent and purpose of the deleted language. 

5. Comment: Appendix F provides a list of affected Municipal Solid Waste Landfills, but the list appears to include
certain modified landfills subject to NSPS XXX as applicable to the Federal Plan requirements. 
Please consider removing 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart XXX landfills from the 111(d) State Plan. 

Response: NSPS XXX landfills will be removed from the final plan. 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 10



SS-7039 (November 2022) 7 RDA 1693 

Regulatory Flexibility Addendum 

Pursuant to T.C.A. §§ 4-5-401 through 4-5-404, prior to initiating the rule making process, all agencies shall 
conduct a review of whether a proposed rule or rule affects small business.  

This rule is federally mandated and substantially codifies existing state or federal law, as follows. 

• Section 111(d) of the Clean Air Act requires the Administrator of the U. S. EPA to prescribe regulations under
which each state must submit plans establishing standards for any stationary source category subject to Section
111 of the federal act for any existing source. Section 111(d)(2) grants the Administrator the authority to
prescribe a federal plan that applies if any state fails to submit a satisfactory plan.

• 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart Cf establishes EPA’s state plan requirements for municipal solid waste landfills, and
40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO specifies equivalent federal plan requirements.

• The federal plan, which is implemented and enforced directly by EPA, applies if Tennessee fails to submit a
state plan.

• This rule satisfies the requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart Cf. Tennessee satisfied this requirement by
adopting the language of 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO, because the federal plan language removes the
requirement for existing landfills to resubmit certain reports (i.e., the federal plan language is slightly less
burdensome than the state plan language).

Pursuant to T.C.A. § 4-5-404, a regulatory flexibility analysis is not required. 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 11



SS-7039 (November 2022) 8 RDA 1693 

Impact on Local Governments 

Pursuant to T.C.A. §§ 4-5-220 and 4-5-228, “On any rule and regulation proposed to be promulgated, the 
proposing agency shall state in a simple declarative sentence, without additional comments on the merits or the 
policy of the rule or regulation, whether the rule or regulation may have a projected financial impact on local 
governments. The statement shall describe the financial impact in terms of increase in expenditures or decrease 
in revenues.”  

The Board anticipates that this rule will not result in an increase in expenditures or a decrease in revenues for 
local governments. 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 12



SS-7039 (November 2022) 9 RDA 1693 

Additional Information Required by Joint Government Operations Committee 

All agencies, upon filing a rule, must also submit the following pursuant to T.C.A. § 4-5-226(i)(1). 

(A) A brief summary of the rule and a description of all relevant changes in previous regulations effectuated by
such rule;

This rulemaking amends Chapter 0400-30-39 to add new Rule 0400-30-39-.03 to include compliance 
requirements for municipal solid waste landfills, as codified in 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO. This rulemaking 
also amends paragraph (7) and (9) of Rule 1200-03-07-.07 to remove corresponding, but outdated, landfill 
requirements. 

(B) A citation to and brief description of any federal law or regulation or any state law or regulation mandating
promulgation of such rule or establishing guidelines relevant thereto;

This rule is federally mandated and substantially codifies existing state or federal law, as follows.  

• Section 111(d) of the Clean Air Act requires the Administrator of the U. S. EPA to prescribe regulations
under which each state must submit plans establishing standards for any stationary source category
subject to Section 111 of the federal act for any existing source.  Section 111(d)(2) grants the Administrator
the authority to prescribe a federal plan that applies if any state fails to submit a satisfactory plan.

• 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart Cf establishes EPA’s state plan requirements for municipal solid waste landfills,
and 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO specifies equivalent federal plan requirements.

• The federal plan, which is implemented and enforced directly by EPA, applies if Tennessee fails to submit
a state plan.

This rule satisfies the requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart Cf.  Tennessee satisfied this requirement by 
adopting the language of 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO, because the federal plan language removes the 
requirement for existing landfills to resubmit certain reports (i.e., the federal plan language is slightly less 
burdensome than the state plan language). 

(C) Identification of persons, organizations, corporations or governmental entities most directly affected by this
rule, and whether those persons, organizations, corporations or governmental entities urge adoption or
rejection of this rule;

Persons, organizations, corporations, or governmental entities most directly affected by this rulemaking are the 
following facilities:   

Dyersburg City Landfill (Dyer County); Jefferson County Landfill (Jefferson County); Jere Kirk Disposal (Dyer 
County); Lauderdale County Landfill (Lauderdale County); Pickett County Landfill (Pickett County); Sevier Solid 
Waste, Inc. (Sevier County); Carter Valley Landfill (Hawkins County); Middle Point Landfill (Rutherford County); 
North Shelby Landfill (Shelby County); South Shelby Landfill (Shelby County); Matlock Bend Landfill (Loudon 
County); Rhea County Landfill (Rhea County); Alcoa-Maryville-Blount County Landfill (Blount County); Volunteer 
Regional Landfill (Scott County); Chestnut Ridge Landfill (Anderson County); West Camden Sanitary Landfill 
(Benton County); Iris Glen Environmental Center (Washington County); Bradley County Landfill (Bradley County); 
Northwest Tennessee Landfill (Obion County); Waste Service of Decatur, LLC-Decatur County Landfill (Decatur 
County); City of Chattanooga Birchwood Landfill (Hamilton County); Jackson Madison County Landfill (Madison 
County); McMinn County Landfill (McMinn County); and Marion County Landfill (Marion County). 

(D) Identification of any opinions of the attorney general and reporter or any judicial ruling that directly relates to
the rule or the necessity to promulgate the rule;

The Board is not aware of any opinions of the Attorney General and Reporter or any judicial ruling that directly 
relates to the rule or the necessity to promulgate the rule. 

(E) An estimate of the probable increase or decrease in state and local government revenues and expenditures,
if any, resulting from the promulgation of this rule, and assumptions and reasoning upon which the estimate

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 13



SS-7039 (November 2022) 10 RDA 1693 

is based. An agency shall not state that the fiscal impact is minimal if the fiscal impact is more than two 
percent (2%) of the agency's annual budget or five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000), whichever is less; 

The Board anticipates that this rule will not result in an increase in expenditures or a decrease in revenues for 
state or local governments. 

(F) Identification of the appropriate agency representative or representatives, possessing substantial knowledge
and understanding of the rule;

Jimmy Johnston 
Division of Air Pollution Control 
William R. Snodgrass Tennessee Tower 
312 Rosa L. Parks Avenue, 15th Floor 
Nashville, Tennessee 37243 
James.Johnston@tn.gov 

(G) Identification of the appropriate agency representative or representatives who will explain the rule at a
scheduled meeting of the committees;

Blair Beaty 
Legislative Director 
Office of General Counsel 

(H) Office address, telephone number, and email address of the agency representative or representatives who
will explain the rule at a scheduled meeting of the committees; and

Office of General Counsel 
Tennessee Department of Environment and Conservation 
William R. Snodgrass Tennessee Tower 
312 Rosa L. Parks Avenue, 2nd Floor 
Nashville, Tennessee 37243 
(615) 253-5339
Blair.Beaty@tn.gov

(I) Any additional information relevant to the rule proposed for continuation that the committee requests.

(1) A description of the action proposed, the purpose of the action, the legal authority for the action and the
plan for implementing the action.

This rulemaking establishes a state plan for compliance requirements for municipal solid waste landfills
constructed, modified, or reconstructed on or before July 17, 2014. This rule was adopted in response to
40 C.F.R. Part 60, Subpart Cf, which requires states to establish such plans. This rule is adopted pursuant
to T.C.A. §§ 4-5-201 to -231 and 68-201-101 to -121.

(2) A determination that the action is the least-cost method for achieving the stated purpose.

This action is the least-costly method for achieving the intent and purpose of the regulation because it
complies with the requirements established by 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart Cf without imposing additional
costs. Furthermore, by adopting the provisions of 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO, this rule removes
certain redundancies in notification and reporting that would otherwise apply.

(3) A comparison of the cost-benefit relation of the action to nonaction.

The Board has determined that there is no cost-benefit relation of this rulemaking action compared to
nonaction, because if no action is taken on this rule, affected landfills will still be required to comply with
40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO. The difference in action and nonaction at the state level is that the rule
would be implemented and enforced directly by U. S. EPA if this rule is not adopted at the state level.

(4) A determination that the action represents the most efficient allocation of public and private resources.

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 14



SS-7039 (November 2022) 11 RDA 1693 

The Board has determined that this rule represents the most efficient allocation of public and private 
resources because implementation and enforcement at the state level is likely to be more efficient than 
implementation by U. S. EPA. Similarly, the Board believes that regulated entities will allocate their own 
resources more efficiently by dealing with the Division of Air Pollution Control rather than with U. S. EPA. 

(5) A determination of the effect of the action on competition.

The Board has determined that this rule will have no effect on competition, because all landfills will be
subject to the same requirements. As noted above, these requirements would be implemented and
enforced directly by U. S. EPA if this rule is not adopted at the state level.

(6) A determination of the effect of the action on the cost of living in the geographical area in which the
action would occur.

The Board has determined that this rule will not affect the cost of living in the geographical area in which
the action would occur.

(7) A determination of the effect of the action on employment in the geographical area in which the action
would occur.

The Board has determined that this rule will not affect employment in the geographical area in which the
action would occur.

(8) The source of revenue to be used for the action.

The action would be funded primarily through Title V fees.

(9) A conclusion as to the economic impact upon all persons substantially affected by the action, including
an analysis containing a description as to which persons will bear the costs of the action and which
persons will benefit directly and indirectly from the action.

The Board has determined that this rule will not have a substantial economic impact upon the persons
substantially affected by this action. The costs associated with this rule will be borne by municipal solid
waste landfills constructed, modified, or reconstructed on or before July 17, 2014.  EPA (see 81 FR
59313, Aug. 29, 2016) estimates that surrounding communities will significantly benefit from reduction in
emissions of nonmethane organic carbon and methane emissions from landfills.

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 15



SS-7039 (November 2022) 1 RDA 1693 

Department of State 
Division of Publications 
312 Rosa L. Parks Ave., 8th Floor, Snodgrass/TN Tower 
Nashville, TN 37243 
Phone: 615-741-2650 
Email: publications.information@tn.gov 

For Department of State Use Only 

Sequence Number: 

Rule ID(s): 

File Date: 

Effective Date: 

Rulemaking Hearing Rule(s) Filing Form 
Rulemaking Hearing Rules are rules filed after and as a result of a rulemaking hearing (Tenn. Code Ann. § 4-5-205). 

Pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 4-5-229, any new fee or fee increase promulgated by state agency rule shall take effect on July 1, following the 
expiration of the ninety (90) day period as provided in § 4-5-207. This section shall not apply to rules that implement new fees or fee increases 
that are promulgated as emergency rules pursuant to § 4-5-208(a) and to subsequent rules that make permanent such emergency rules, as 
amended during the rulemaking process. In addition, this section shall not apply to state agencies that did not, during the preceding two (2) fiscal 
years, collect fees in an amount sufficient to pay the cost of operating the board, commission or entity in accordance with § 4-29-121(b). 

Agency/Board/Commission: Air Pollution Control Board 

Division: Air Pollution Control 

Contact Person: Travis Blake 

Address: William R. Snodgrass Tennessee Tower 
312 Rosa L. Parks Avenue, 15th Floor 
Nashville, Tennessee 

Zip: 37243 

Phone: (615) 532-0617

Email: Travis.Blake@tn.gov 

Revision Type (check all that apply): 

X Amendment Content based on previous emergency rule filed on ______________ 

X New Content is identical to the emergency rule 

Repeal 

Rule(s) (ALL chapters and rules contained in filing must be listed here. If needed, copy and paste additional 
tables to accommodate multiple chapters. Please make sure that ALL new rule and repealed rule numbers are 
listed in the chart below. Please enter only ONE Rule Number/Rule Title per row.) 

Chapter Number Chapter Title 

0400-30-39 Standards of Performance for New Stationary Sources 

Rule Number Rule Title 

0400-30-39-.03 Emission Guidelines and Compliance Times for Municipal Solid Waste Landfills 

Chapter Number Chapter Title 

1200-03-07 Process Emission Standards 

Rule Number Rule Title 

1200-03-07-.07 General Provisions and Applicability for Process Gaseous Emission Standards 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 16



SS-7039 (November 2022) 2 RDA 1693 

Place substance of rules and other info here. Please be sure to include a detailed explanation of the changes 
being made to the listed rule(s). Statutory authority must be given for each rule change. For information on 
formatting rules go to  
https://sos.tn.gov/products/division-publications/rulemaking-guidelines. 

Chapter 0400-30-39 
Standards of Performance for New Stationary Sources 

New Rule 

Chapter 0400-30-39 Standards of Performance for New Stationary Sources is amended by adding a new rule to 
read as follows: 

0400-30-39-.03 Emission Guidelines and Compliance Times for Municipal Solid Waste Landfills 

(1) Each municipal solid waste landfill for which construction, reconstruction, or modification was commenced
on or before July 17, 2014, that has accepted waste at any time since November 8, 1987, or has additional
design capacity available for future waste deposition, shall satisfy the following standards and requirements
as follow:

(a) For the purpose of this paragraph, the definitions listed in 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO, §
60.16730 (2022) apply, except as follows:

1. "Administrator" means the Technical Secretary of the Tennessee Air Pollution Control
Board, except that with respect to 40 C.F.R. §§ 62.16710(b) (and the specific authorities
enumerated therein), 62.16711(b), 62.16712(a)(5), 62.16718(a)(5), and 62.16724
“Administrator” means the Administrator of the United States Environmental Protection
Agency or the Administrator’s authorized representative.

2. “State” means the State of Tennessee.

(b) All facilities subject to this paragraph shall comply with the provisions of 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart
OOO, §§ 62.16710 through 62.16730 (2022).

(c) The provisions of 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO (Federal Plan Requirements for Municipal Solid
Waste Landfills That Commenced Construction On or Before July 17, 2014, and Have Not Been
Modified or Reconstructed Since July 17, 2014), as published in the July 1, 2022, edition of the
Code of Federal Regulations, are hereby adopted by reference. If the definitions in 40 C.F.R. Part
62 Subpart OOO, as incorporated, conflict with the definitions in subparagraph (a) of this
paragraph, the definitions in subparagraph (a) of this paragraph shall apply.

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 4-5-201 et seq. and 68-201-101 et seq. 

Chapter 1200-03-07 
Process Emission Standards 

Amendments 

Paragraph (7) of Rule 1200-03-07-.07 General Provisions and Applicability for Process Gaseous Emission 
Standards is amended by deleting it in its entirety and substituting instead the following: 

(7) Reserved. (See Rule 0400-30-39-.03.) Each municipal solid waste landfill for which construction,
reconstruction or modification was commenced before July 17, 2014  that has accepted waste at any time 
since November 8, 1987 and each municipal solid waste landfill for which construction, reconstruction or 
modification was commenced before May 30, 1991 that has additional design capacity available for future 
waste deposition, shall satisfy the standards and requirements as follow: 

(a) For what follows, "Administrator" means the Technical Secretary of the Tennessee Air Pollution
Control Board in those cases for which Authority to implement and enforce provisions of the rule 
have been delegated to Tennessee. Otherwise, “Administrator” means the Administrator of the 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 17



SS-7039 (November 2022) 3 RDA 1693 

United States Environmental Protection Agency. “State” means the State of Tennessee.” 

(b) For the purpose of this paragraph, the definitions listed in 40 CFR Part 60 Subpart WWW, § 60.751
apply. 

(c) All facilities subject to this paragraph shall comply with the provisions of 40 CFR Part 60 Subpart
WWW, §§ 60.752 through 60.759, except as listed in Parts 1 and 2 of this subparagraph. 

1. The initial design capacity report required by § 60.757(a) shall be submitted no later than
March 28, 1999. This submittal date shall replace the submittal dates listed in § 
60.757(a)(1)(i) through (ii). 

2. The initial NMOC emission rate report required by § 60.757(b) shall be submitted with the
initial design capacity report required under Part 1 of this subparagraph. The date for the 
submittal of the initial NMOC emission rate report as listed in § 60.757(b)(1)(i) shall be 
replaced by the requirement to submit this report no later than March 28, 1999. 

(d) Adopted herein by reference are the Federal regulations in Paragraph (9) of this rule as appearing
in Subpart WWW of 40 CFR Part 60. Source: (published in the Federal Register / Vol. 61, No. 49 / 
Tuesday, March 12, 1996 / Rules and Regulations 9919), unless otherwise noted and as amended 
at 63 FR 32750 - 32753, June 16, 1998; 64 FR 9262, February 24, 1999; 65 FR 18908 and 18909, 
April 10, 2000; 65 FR 61778, October 17, 2000; 71 FR 55127, September 21, 2006. 

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 4-5-201 et seq. and 68-201-101 et seq. 

Paragraph (9) of Rule 1200-03-07-.07 General Provisions and Applicability for Process Gaseous Emission 
Standards is amended by deleting it in its entirety and substituting instead the following: 

(9) Reserved. (See Rule 0400-30-39-.03.) Subpart WWW - Standards of Performance for Municipal Solid
Waste Landfills 

Sec. 
60.750 Applicability, designation of affected facility, and delegation of authority. 
60.751 Definitions. 
60.752 Standards for air emissions from municipal solid waste landfills. 
60.753 Operational standards for collection and control systems. 
60.754 Test methods and procedures. 
60.755 Compliance provisions. 
60.756 Monitoring of operations. 
60.757 Reporting requirements. 
60.758 Recordkeeping requirements. 
60.759 Specifications for active collection systems. 

Authority:  42 U.S.C. 7401, 7411, 7414, 7416 and 7601. 

Subpart WWW - Standards of Performance for Municipal Solid Waste Landfills 

§ 60.750  Applicability, designation of affected facility, and delegation of authority.

(a) The provisions of this subpart apply to each municipal solid waste landfill that commenced construction,
reconstruction or modification or began accepting waste on or after May 30, 1991.  Physical or operational 
changes made to an existing MSW landfill solely to comply with Subpart Cc of this part are not considered 
construction, reconstruction, or modification for the purposes of this section. 

(b) The following authorities shall be retained by the Administrator and not transferred to the State:
§60.754(a)(5).

(c) Activities required by or conducted pursuant to a CERCLA, RCRA, or State remedial action are not
considered construction, reconstruction, or modification for purposes of this subpart. 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 18



SS-7039 (November 2022) 4 RDA 1693 

§ 60.751  Definitions.

As used in this subpart, all terms not defined herein shall have the meaning given them in the Act or in subpart A 
of this part. 

“Active collection system” means a gas collection system that uses gas mover equipment. 

“Active landfill” means a landfill in which solid waste is being placed or a landfill that is planned to accept waste in 
the future. 

“Closed landfill” means a landfill in which solid waste is no longer being placed, and in which no additional solid 
wastes will be placed without first filing a notification of modification as prescribed under § 60.7(a)(4). Once a 
notification of modification has been filed, and additional solid waste is placed in the landfill, the landfill is no longer 
closed. 

“Closure” means that point in time when a landfill becomes a closed landfill. 

“Commercial solid waste” means all types of solid waste generated by stores, offices, restaurants, warehouses, and 
other nonmanufacturing activities, excluding residential and industrial wastes. 

“Controlled landfill” means any landfill at which collection and control systems are required under this subpart as a 
result of the nonmethane organic compounds emission rate.  The landfill is considered controlled at the time a 
collection and control system design plan is submitted in compliance with § 60.752(b)(2)(i). 

“Design capacity” means the maximum amount of solid waste a landfill can accept, as indicated in terms of volume 
or mass in the most recent permit issued by the State, local, or Tribal agency responsible for regulating the landfill, 
plus any in-place waste not accounted for in the most recent permit.  If the owner or operator chooses to convert 
the design capacity from volume to mass or from mass to volume to demonstrate its design capacity is less than 
2.5 million megagrams or 2.5 million cubic meters, the calculation must include a site specific density, which must 
be recalculated annually. 

“Disposal facility” means all contiguous land and structures, other appurtenances, and improvements on the land 
used for the disposal of solid waste. 

“Emission rate cutoff” means the threshold annual emission rate to which a landfill compares its estimated emission 
rate to determine if control under the regulation is required. 

“Enclosed combustor” means an enclosed firebox which maintains a relatively constant limited peak temperature 
generally using a limited supply of combustion air.  An enclosed flare is considered an enclosed combustor. 

“Flare” means an open combustor without enclosure or shroud. 

“Gas mover equipment” means the equipment (i.e., fan, blower, compressor) used to transport landfill gas through 
the header system. 

“Household waste” means any solid waste (including garbage, trash, and sanitary waste in septic tanks) derived 
from households (including, but not limited to, single and multiple residences, hotels and motels, bunkhouses, 
ranger stations, crew quarters, campgrounds, picnic grounds, and day-use recreation areas). 

“Industrial solid waste” means solid waste generated by manufacturing or industrial processes that is not a 
hazardous waste regulated under Subtitle C of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, parts 264 and 265 
of this title.  Such waste may include, but is not limited to, waste resulting from the following manufacturing 
processes: electric power generation; fertilizer/agricultural chemicals; food and related products/by-products; 
inorganic chemicals; iron and steel manufacturing; leather and leather products; nonferrous metals 
manufacturing/foundries; organic chemicals; plastics and resins manufacturing; pulp and paper industry; rubber and 
miscellaneous plastic products; stone, glass, clay, and concrete products; textile manufacturing; transportation 
equipment; and water treatment.  This term does not include mining waste or oil and gas waste. 

“Interior Well” means any well or similar collection component located inside the perimeter of the landfill.  A perimeter 
well located outside the landfilled waste is not an interior well. 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 19



SS-7039 (November 2022) 5 RDA 1693 

“Landfill” means an area of land or an excavation in which wastes are placed for permanent disposal, and that is 
not a land application unit, surface impoundment, injection well, or waste pile as those terms are defined under 
§ 257.2 of this title.

“Lateral expansion” means a horizontal expansion of the waste boundaries of an existing MSW landfill.  A lateral 
expansion is not a modification unless it results in an increase in the design capacity of the landfill. 

“Modification” means an increase in the permitted volume design capacity of the landfill by either horizontal or 
vertical expansion based on its permitted design capacity as of May 30, 1991.  Modification does not occur until the 
owner or operator commences construction on the horizontal or vertical expansion. 

“Municipal solid waste landfill” or “MSW landfill” means an entire disposal facility in a contiguous geographical space 
where household waste is placed in or on land.  An MSW landfill may also receive other types of RCRA Subtitle D 
wastes (§ 257.2 of this title) such as commercial solid waste, nonhazardous sludge, conditionally exempt small 
quantity generator waste, and industrial solid waste.  Portions of an MSW landfill may be separated by access 
roads.  An MSW landfill may be publicly or privately owned.  An MSW landfill may be a new MSW landfill, an existing 
MSW landfill, or a lateral expansion. 

“Municipal solid waste landfill emissions” or “MSW landfill emissions” means gas generated by the decomposition 
of organic waste deposited in an MSW landfill or derived from the evolution of organic compounds in the waste. 

“NMOC” means nonmethane organic compounds, as measured according to the provisions of § 60.754. 

“Nondegradable waste” means any waste that does not decompose through chemical breakdown or microbiological 
activity.  Examples are, but are not limited to, concrete, municipal waste combustor ash, and metals. 

“Passive collection system” means a gas collection system that solely uses positive pressure within the landfill to 
move the gas rather than using gas mover equipment. 

“Sludge” means any solid, semisolid, or liquid waste generated from a municipal, commercial, or industrial 
wastewater treatment plant, water supply treatment plant, or air pollution control facility, exclusive of the treated 
effluent from a wastewater treatment plant. 

”Solid waste” means any garbage, sludge from a wastewater treatment plant, water supply treatment plant, or air 
pollution control facility and other discarded material, including solid, liquid, semisolid, or contained gaseous 
material resulting from industrial, commercial, mining, and agricultural operations, and from community activities, 
but does not include solid or dissolved material in domestic sewage, or solid or dissolved materials in irrigation 
return flows or industrial discharges that are point sources subject to permits under 33 U.S.C. 1342, or source, 
special nuclear, or by-product material as defined by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended (42 U.S.C 2011 
et seq.). 

“Sufficient density” means any number, spacing, and combination of collection system components, including 
vertical wells, horizontal collectors, and surface collectors, necessary to maintain emission and migration control as 
determined by measures of performance set forth in this part. 

“Sufficient extraction rate” means a rate sufficient to maintain a negative pressure at all wellheads in the collection 
system without causing air infiltration, including any wellheads connected to the system as a result of expansion or 
excess surface emissions, for the life of the blower. 

§ 60.752  Standards for air emissions from municipal solid waste landfills.

(a) Each owner or operator of an MSW landfill having a design capacity less than 2.5 million megagrams by
mass or 2.5 million cubic meters by volume shall submit an initial design capacity report to the Administrator 
as provided in § 60.757(a).  The landfill may calculate design capacity in either megagrams or cubic meters 
for comparison with the exemption values.  Any density conversions shall be documented and submitted 
with the report.  Submittal of the initial design capacity report shall fulfill the requirements of this subpart 
except as provided for in paragraphs (a)(1) and (a)(2) of this section. 

1. The owner or operator shall submit to the Administrator an amended design capacity report, as

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 20



SS-7039 (November 2022) 6 RDA 1693 

provided for in § 60.757(a)(3). 

2. When an increase in the maximum design capacity of a landfill exempted from the provisions of
§ 60.752(b) through § 60.759 of this subpart on the basis of the design capacity exemption in
paragraph (a) of this section results in a revised maximum design capacity equal to or greater than 
2.5 million megagrams and 2.5 million cubic meters, the owner or operator shall comply with the 
provision of paragraph (b) of this section. 

(b) Each owner or operator of an MSW landfill having a design capacity equal to or greater than 2.5 million
megagrams and 2.5 million cubic meters, shall either comply with paragraph (b)(2) of this section or 
calculate an NMOC emission rate for the landfill using the procedures specified in § 60.754.  The NMOC 
emission rate shall be recalculated annually, except as provided in § 60.757(b)(1)(ii) of this subpart.  The 
owner or operator of an MSW landfill subject to this subpart with a design capacity greater than or equal to 
2.5 million megagrams and 2.5 million cubic meters is subject to part 70 or 71 permitting requirements. 

1. If the calculated NMOC emission rate is less than 50 megagrams per year, the owner or operator
shall: 

(i) Submit an annual emission report to the Administrator, except as provided for in
§ 60.757(b)(1)(ii); and

(ii) Recalculate the NMOC emission rate annually using the procedures specified in
§ 60.754(a)(1) until such time as the calculated NMOC emission rate is equal to or greater
than 50 megagrams per year, or the landfill is closed. 

(A) If the NMOC emission rate, upon recalculation required in paragraph (b)(1)(ii) of
this section, is equal to or greater than 50 megagrams per year, the owner or 
operator shall install a collection and control system in compliance with 
paragraph (b)(2) of this section. 

(B) If the landfill is permanently closed, a closure notification shall be submitted to the
Administrator as provided for in § 60.757(d). 

2. If the calculated NMOC emission rate is equal to or greater than 50 megagrams per year, the owner
or operator shall: 

(i) Submit a collection and control system design plan prepared by a professional engineer to
the Administrator within 1 year: 

(A) The collection and control system as described in the plan shall meet the design
requirements of paragraph (b)(2)(ii) of this section. 

(B) The collection and control system design plan shall include any alternatives to the
operational standards, test methods, procedures, compliance measures, 
monitoring, recordkeeping or reporting provisions of §§ 60.753 through 60.758 
proposed by the owner or operator. 

(C) The collection and control system design plan shall either conform with
specifications for active collection systems in § 60.759 or include a demonstration 
to the Administrator's satisfaction of the sufficiency of the alternative provisions to 
§ 60.759.

(D) The Administrator shall review the information submitted under 
paragraphs (b)(2)(i)(A), (B) and (C) of this section and either approve it, disapprove 
it, or request that additional information be submitted.  Because of the many site-
specific factors involved with landfill gas system design, alternative systems may 
be necessary.  A wide variety of system designs are possible, such as vertical 
wells, combination horizontal and vertical collection systems, or horizontal 
trenches only, leachate collection components, and passive systems. 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 21



SS-7039 (November 2022) 7 RDA 1693 

(ii) Install a collection and control system that captures the gas generated within the landfill as
required by paragraphs (b)(2)(ii)(A) or (B) and (b)(2)(iii) of this section within 30 months 
after the first annual report in which the emission rate equals or exceeds 50 megagrams 
per year, unless Tier 2 or Tier 3 sampling demonstrates that the emission rate is less than 
50 megagrams per year, as specified in &60.757(c)(1) or (2). 

(A) An active collection system shall:

(1) Be designed to handle the maximum expected gas flow rate from the
entire area of the landfill that warrants control over the intended use period 
of the gas control or treatment system equipment; 

(2) Collect gas from each area, cell, or group of cells in the landfill in which
the initial solid waste has been placed for a period of: 

(i) 5 years or more if active; or

(ii) 2 years or more if closed or at final grade;

(3) Collect gas at a sufficient extraction rate;

(4) Be designed to minimize off-site migration of subsurface gas.

(B) A passive collection system shall:

(1) Comply with the provisions specified in paragraphs  (b)(2)(ii)(A)(1),(2), and
(2)(ii)(A)(4) of this section. 

(2) Be installed with liners on the bottom and all sides in all areas in which gas
is to be collected.  The liners shall be installed as required under § 258.40 
of this title. 

(iii) Route all the collected gas to a control system that complies with the requirements in either
paragraph (b)(2)(iii)(A), (B) or (C) of this section. 

(A) An open flare designed and operated in accordance with § 60.18 except as noted
in §60.754(e); 

(B) A control system designed and operated to reduce NMOC by 98 weight-percent,
or, when an enclosed combustion device is used for control, to either reduce 
NMOC by 98 weight percent or reduce the outlet NMOC concentration to less than 
20 parts per million by volume, dry basis as hexane at 3 percent oxygen.  The 
reduction efficiency or parts per million by volume shall be established by an initial 
performance test to be completed no later than 180 days after the initial startup of 
the approved control system using the test methods specified in § 60.754(d). 

(1) If a boiler or process heater is used as the control device, the landfill gas
stream shall be introduced into the flame zone. 

(2) The control device shall be operated within the parameter ranges
established during the initial or most recent performance test.  The 
operating parameters to be monitored are specified in § 60.756; 

(C) Route the collected gas to a treatment system that processes the collected gas for
subsequent sale or use.  All emissions from any atmospheric vent from the gas 
treatment system shall be subject to the requirements of paragraph (b)(2)(iii)(A) or 
(B) of this section.

(iv) Operate the collection and control device installed to comply with this subpart in
accordance with the provisions of § § 60.753, 60.755 and 60.756. 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 22



SS-7039 (November 2022) 8 RDA 1693 

(v) The collection and control system may be capped or removed provided that all the
conditions of paragraphs (b)(2)(v)(A), (B), and (C) of this section are met: 

(A) The landfill shall be a closed landfill as defined in §60.751 of this subpart.  A closure
report shall be submitted to the Administrator as provided in § 60.757(d); 

(B) The collection and control system shall have been in operation a minimum of
15 years; and 

(C) Following the procedures specified in § 60.754(b) of this subpart, the calculated
NMOC gas produced by the landfill shall be less than 50 megagrams per year on 
three successive test dates.  The test dates shall be no less than 90 days apart, 
and no more than 180 days apart. 

(c) For purposes of obtaining an operating permit under title V of the Act, the owner or operator of a MSW
landfill subject to this subpart with a design capacity less than 2.5 million megagrams or 2.5 million cubic 
meters is not subject to the requirement to obtain an operating permit for the landfill under part 70 or 71 of 
this chapter, unless the landfill is otherwise subject to either part 70 or 71.  For purposes of submitting a 
timely application for an operating permit under part 70 or 71, the owner or operator of a MSW landfill 
subject to this subpart with a design capacity greater than or equal to 2.5 million megagrams and 2.5 million 
cubic meters, and not otherwise subject to either part 70 or 71, becomes subject to the requirements of  
§§70.5(a)(1)(i) or 71.5(a)(1)(i) of this chapter, regardless of when the design capacity report is actually
submitted, no later than: 

1. June 10, 1996 for MSW landfills that commenced construction, modification, or reconstruction on
or after May 30, 1991 but before March 12, 1996; 

2. Ninety days after the date of commenced construction, modification, or reconstruction for MSW
landfills that commence construction, modification, or reconstruction on or after March 12, 1996. 

(d) When a MSW landfill subject to this subpart is closed, the owner or operator is no longer subject to the
requirement to maintain an operating permit under part 70 or 71 of this chapter for the landfill if the landfill 
is not otherwise subject to the requirements of either part 70 or 71 and if either of the following conditions 
are met: 

1. The landfill was never subject to the requirement for a control system under paragraph (b)(2) of
this section; or 

2. The owner or operator meets the conditions for control system removal specified in paragraph
(b)(2)(v) of this section. 

§ 60.753  Operational standards for collection and control systems.

Each owner or operator of an MSW landfill gas collection and control system used to comply with the provisions of 
§ 60.752(b)(2)(ii) of this subpart shall:

(a) Operate the collection system such that gas is collected from each area, cell, or group of cells in the MSW
landfill in which solid waste has been in place for: 

1. 5 years or more if active; or

2. 2 years or more if closed or at final grade;

(b) Operate the collection system with negative pressure at each wellhead except under the following
conditions: 

1. A fire or increased well temperature.  The owner or operator shall record instances when positive
pressure occurs in efforts to avoid a fire.  These records shall be submitted with the annual reports 
as provided in § 60.757(f)(1); 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 23



SS-7039 (November 2022) 9 RDA 1693 

2. Use of a geomembrane or synthetic cover.  The owner or operator shall develop acceptable
pressure limits in the design plan; 

3. A decommissioned well.  A well may experience a static positive pressure after shut down to
accommodate for declining flows.  All design changes shall be approved by the Administrator; 

(c) Operate each interior wellhead in the collection system with a landfill gas temperature less than 55oC and
with either a nitrogen level less than 20 percent or an oxygen level less than 5 percent.  The owner or 
operator may establish a higher operating temperature, nitrogen, or oxygen value at a particular well.  A 
higher operating value demonstration shall show supporting data that the elevated parameter does not 
cause fires or significantly inhibit anaerobic decomposition by killing methanogens. 

1. The nitrogen level shall be determined using Method 3C, unless an alternative test method is
established as allowed by § 60.752(b)(2)(i) of this subpart. 

2. Unless an alternative test method is established as allowed by § 60.752(b)(2)(i) of this subpart, the
oxygen shall be determined by an oxygen meter using Method 3A or 3C except that: 

(i) The span shall be set so that the regulatory limit is between 20 and 50 percent of the span;

(ii) A data recorder is not required;

(iii) Only two calibration gases are required, a zero and span, and ambient air may be used as
the span; 

(iv) A calibration error check is not required;

(v) The allowable sample bias, zero drift, and calibration drift are + 10 percent.

(d) Operate the collection system so that the methane concentration is less than 500 parts per million above
background at the surface of the landfill.  To determine if this level is exceeded, the owner or operator shall 
conduct surface testing around the perimeter of the collection area along a pattern that traverses the landfill 
at 30 meter intervals and where visual observations indicate elevated concentrations of landfill gas, such 
as distressed vegetation and cracks or seeps in the cover.  The owner or operator may establish an 
alternative traversing pattern that ensures equivalent coverage.  A surface monitoring design plan shall be 
developed that includes a topographical map with the monitoring route and the rationale for any site-specific 
deviations from the 30 meter intervals.  Areas with steep slopes or other dangerous areas may be excluded 
from the surface testing. 

(e) Operate the system such that all collected gases are vented to a control system designed and operated in
compliance with § 60.752(b)(2)(iii).  In the event the collection or control system is inoperable, the gas 
mover system shall be shut down and all valves in the collection and control system contributing to venting 
of the gas to the atmosphere shall be closed within 1 hour; and 

(f) Operate the control or treatment system at all times when the collected gas is routed to the system.

(g) If monitoring demonstrates that the operational requirements in paragraphs (b), (c), or (d) of this section
are not met, corrective action shall be taken as specified in § 60.755(a)(3) through (5) or § 60.755(c) of this 
subpart.  If corrective actions are taken as specified in § 60.755, the monitored exceedance is not a violation 
of the operational requirements in this section. 

§ 60.754  Test methods and procedures.

(a) 1. The landfill owner or operator shall calculate the NMOC emission rate using either the equation 
provided in paragraph (a)(1)(i) of this section or the equation provided in paragraph (a)(1)(ii) of this 
section.  Both equations may be used if the actual year-to year solid waste acceptance rate is 
known, as specified in paragraph (a)(1)(i), for part of the life of the landfill and the actual year-to-
year solid waste acceptance rate is unknown, as specified in paragraph (a)(1)(ii), for part of the life 
of the landfill.  The values to be used in both equations are 0.05 per year for k, 170 cubic meters 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 24



SS-7039 (November 2022) 10 RDA 1693 

per megagram for Lo, and 4,000 parts per million by volume as hexane for the CNMOC. 

(i) The following equation shall be used if the actual year-to-year solid waste acceptance rate
is known.  

( )( )( )M kL M e C xNMOC o i

kt

i

n

NMOC
i= −

=

− 2 36 10
1

9.

where, 

MNMOC =    Total NMOC emission rate from the landfill, megagrams per year 

k    =    methane generation rate constant, year-1 
Lo    =   methane generation potential, cubic meters per megagram solid waste 

Mi        =    mass of solid waste in the ith section, megagrams 

ti        =    age of the ith section, years 

CNMOC =    concentration of NMOC, parts per million by volume as hexane 

3.6 x 10-9 =  conversion factor 

The mass of nondegradable solid waste may be subtracted from the total mass of solid 
waste in a particular section of the landfill when calculating the value for Mi if documentation 

of the nature and amount of such wastes is maintained. 

(ii) The following equation shall be used if the actual year-to-year solid waste acceptance rate
is unknown. 

MNMOC =  2Lo R (e-kc - e-kt) (CNMOC)(3.6 x 10-9)

where, 

MNMOC = mass emission rate of NMOC, megagrams per year 
L0    = methane generation potential, cubic meters per megagram solid waste 
R = average annual acceptance rate, megagrams per year 

k = methane generation rate constant, year-1 
t = age of landfill, years 
CNMOC = concentration of NMOC, parts per million by volume as hexane 

c   =     time since closure, years. For active landfill c = O and 

e-kc = 1
3.6 x 10-9  =    conversion factor 

The mass of nondegradable solid waste may be subtracted from the total mass of solid 
waste in a particular section of the landfill when calculating a value for R, if documentation 
of the nature and amount of such wastes is maintained. 

2. Tier 1.  The owner or operator shall compare the calculated NMOC mass emission rate to the
standard of 50 megagrams per year. 

(i) If the NMOC emission rate calculated in paragraph (a)(1) of this section is less than
50 megagrams per year, then the landfill owner shall submit an emission rate report as 
provided in § 60.757(b)(1), and shall recalculate the NMOC mass emission rate annually 
as required under § 60.752(b)(1). 

(ii) If the calculated NMOC emission rate is equal to or greater than 50 megagrams per year,
then the landfill owner shall either comply with § 60.752(b)(2), or determine a site-specific 
NMOC concentration and recalculate the NMOC emission rate using the procedures 
provided in paragraph (a)(3) of this section. 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 25



SS-7039 (November 2022) 11 RDA 1693 

3. Tier 2.  The landfill owner or operator shall determine the NMOC concentration using the following
sampling procedure.  The landfill owner or operator shall install at least two sample probes per 
hectare of landfill surface that has retained waste for at least 2 years.  If the landfill is larger than 
25 hectares in area, only 50 samples are required.  The sample probes should be located to avoid 
known areas of nondegradable solid waste.  The owner or operator shall collect and analyze one 
sample of landfill gas from each probe to determine the NMOC concentration using Method 25 or 
25C of appendix A of this part. Method 18 of appendix A of this part may be used to analyze the 
samples collected by the Method 25 or 25C sampling procedure.  Taking composite samples from 
different probes into a single cylinder is allowed; however, equal sample volumes must be taken 
from each probe.  For each composite, the sampling rate, collection times, beginning and ending 
cylinder vacuums, or alternate volume measurements must be recorded to verify that composite 
volumes are equal.  Composite sample volumes should not be less than one liter unless evidence 
can be provided to substantiate the accuracy of smaller volumes.  Terminate compositing before 
the cylinder approaches ambient pressure where measurement accuracy diminishes.  If using 
Method 18 of appendix A of this part, the owner or operator must identify all compounds in the 
sample and, as a minimum, test for those compounds published in the most recent Compilation of 
Air Pollutant Emission Factors (AP-42), minus carbon monoxide, hydrogen sulfide, and mercury.  
As a minimum, the instrument must be calibrated for each of the compounds on the list.  Convert 
the concentration of each Method 18 compound to CNMOC as hexane by multiplying by the ratio 
of its carbon atoms divided by six.  If more than the required number of samples are taken, all 
samples shall be used in the analysis.  The landfill owner or operator shall divide the NMOC 
concentration from Method 25 or 25C of Appendix A of this part by six to convert from CNMOC as 

carbon to CNMOC as hexane.  If the landfill has an active or passive gas removal system in place, 

Method 25 or 25C samples may be collected from these systems instead of surface probes 
provided the removal system can be shown to provide sampling as representative at the two 
sampling probe per hectare requirement.  For active collection systems, samples may be collected 
from the common header pipe before the gas moving or condensate removal equipment.  For these 
systems, a minimum of three samples must be collected from the header pipe. 

(i) The landfill owner or operator shall recalculate the NMOC mass emission rate using the
equations provided in paragraph (a)(1)(i) or (a)(1)(ii) of this section and using the average 
NMOC concentration from the collected samples instead of the default value in the 
equation provided in paragraph (a)(1) of this section. 

(ii) If the resulting mass emission rate calculated using the site-specific NMOC concentration
is equal to or greater than 50 megagrams per year, then the landfill owner or operator shall 
either comply with § 60.752(b)(2), or determine the site-specific methane generation rate 
constant and recalculate the NMOC emission rate using the site-specific methane 
generation rate using the procedure specified in paragraph (a)(4) of this section. 

(iii) If the resulting NMOC mass emission rate is less than 50 megagrams per year, the owner
or operator shall submit a periodic estimate of the emission rate report as provided in 
§ 60.757(b)(1) and retest the site-specific NMOC concentration every 5 years using the
methods specified in this section. 

4. Tier 3.  The site-specific methane generation rate constant shall be determined using the
procedures provided in Method 2E of appendix A of this part.  The landfill owner or operator shall 
estimate the NMOC mass emission rate using equations in paragraph (a)(1)(i) or (a)(1)(ii) of this 
section and using a site-specific methane generation rate constant k, and the site-specific NMOC 
concentration as determined in paragraph (a)(3) of this section instead of the default values 
provided in paragraph (a)(1) of this section.  The landfill owner or operator shall compare the 
resulting NMOC mass emission rate to the standard of 50 megagrams per year. 

(i) If the NMOC mass emission rate as calculated using the site-specific methane generation
rate and concentration of NMOC is equal to or greater than 50 megagrams per year, the 
owner or operator shall comply with § 60.752(b)(2). 

(ii) If the NMOC mass emission rate is less than 50 megagrams per year, then the owner or
operator shall submit a periodic emission rate report as provided in § 60.757(b)(1) and shall 
recalculate the NMOC mass emission rate annually, as provided in § 60.757(b)(1) using 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 26



SS-7039 (November 2022) 12 RDA 1693 

the equations in paragraph (a)(1) of this section and using the site-specific methane 
generation rate constant and NMOC concentration obtained in paragraph (a)(3) of this 
section.  The calculation of the methane generation rate constant is performed only once, 
and the value obtained is used in all subsequent annual NMOC emission rate calculations. 

5. The owner or operator may use other methods to determine the NMOC concentration or a
site-specific k as an alternative to the methods required in paragraphs (a)(3) and (a)(4) of this 
section if the method has been approved by the Administrator. 

(b) After the installation of a collection and control system in compliance with § 60.755, the owner or operator
shall calculate the NMOC emission rate for purposes of determining when the system can be removed as 
provided in § 60.752(b)(2)(v), using the following equation:  

MNMOC = 1.89 x 10-3 QLFG CNMOC

where, 

MNMOC =  mass emission rate of NMOC, megagrams per year 

QLFG =  flow rate of landfill gas, cubic meters per minute 

CNMOC =  NMOC concentration, parts per million by volume as hexane 

1. The flow rate of landfill gas, QLFG, shall be determined by measuring the total landfill gas flow rate

at the common header pipe that leads to the control device using a gas flow measuring device 
calibrated according to the provisions of section 4 of Method 2E of appendix A of this part. 

2. The average NMOC concentration, CNMOC, shall be determined by collecting and analyzing

landfill gas sampled from the common header pipe before the gas moving or condensate removal 
equipment using the procedures in Method 25C or Method 18 of appendix A of this part.  If using 
Method 18 of appendix A of this part, the minimum list of compounds to be tested shall be those 
published in the most recent Compilation of Air Pollutant Emission Factors (AP-42).  The sample 
location on the common header pipe shall be before any condensate removal or other gas refining 
units.  The landfill owner or operator shall divide the NMOC concentration from Method 25C of 
appendix A of this part by six to convert from CNMOC as carbon to CNMOC as hexane. 

3. The owner or operator may use another method to determine landfill gas flow rate and NMOC
concentration if the method has been approved by the Administrator. 

(c) When calculating emissions for PSD purposes, the owner or operator of each MSW landfill subject to the
provisions of this subpart shall estimate the NMOC emission rate for comparison to the PSD major source 
and significance levels in §§ 51.166 or 52.21 of this chapter using AP-42 or other approved measurement 
procedures. 

(d) For the performance test required in § 60.752(b)(2)(iii)(B), Method 25, 25C, or Method 18 of appendix A of
this part shall be used to determine compliance with 98 weight-percent efficiency or the 20 ppmv outlet 
concentration level, unless another method to demonstrate compliance has been approved by the 
Administrator as provided by § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(B).  Method 3 or 3A shall be used to determine oxygen for 
correcting the NMOC concentration as hexane to 3 percent.  In cases where the outlet concentration is less 
than 50 ppm NMOC as carbon (8 ppm NMOC as hexane), Method 25A should be used in place of Method 
25. If using Method 18 of appendix A of this part, the minimum list of compounds to be tested shall be
those published in the most recent Compilation of Air Pollutant Emission Factors (AP-42).  The following 
equation shall be used to calculate efficiency: 

Control Efficiency  =  (NMOCin - NMOCout)/(NMOCin) 

where, 

NMOCin  =  mass of NMOC entering control device 

NMOCout  =  mass of NMOC exiting control device 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 27



SS-7039 (November 2022) 13 RDA 1693 

(e) For the performance test required in §60.752(b)(2)(iii)(A), the net heating value of the combusted landfill
gas as determined in §60.18(f)(3) is calculated from the concentration of methane in the landfill gas as 
measured by Method 3C.  A minimum of three 30-minute Method 3C samples are determined.  The 
measurement of other organic compounds, hydrogen, and carbon monoxide is not applicable.  Method 3C 
may be used to determine the landfill gas molecular weight for calculating the flare gas exit velocity under 
§60.18(f)(4).

§ 60.755  Compliance provisions.

(a) Except as provided in § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(B), the specified methods in paragraphs (a)(1) through (a)(6) of this
section shall be used to determine whether the gas collection system is in compliance with 
§ 60.752(b)(2)(ii).

1. For the purposes of calculating the maximum expected gas generation flow rate from the landfill to
determine compliance with § 60.752(b)(2)(ii)(A)(1), one of the following equations shall be used. 
The k and Lo kinetic factors should be those published in the most recent Compilation of Air 

Pollutant Emission Factors (AP-42) or other site specific values demonstrated to be appropriate 
and approved by the Administrator.  If k has been determined as specified in § 60.754(a)(4), the 
value of k determined from the test shall be used.  A value of no more than 15 years shall be used 
for the intended use period of the gas mover equipment.  The active life of the landfill is the age of 
the landfill plus the estimated number of years until closure. 

(i) For sites with unknown year-to-year solid waste acceptance rate:

Qm = 2Lo R (e-kc - e-kt)

where, 

Qm = maximum expected gas generation flow rate, cubic meters per year 

Lo = methane generation potential, cubic meters per megagram solid waste 

R = average annual acceptance rate, megagrams per year 

k    = methane generation rate constant, year-1 
t = age of the landfill at equipment installation plus the time the owner or operator 

intends to use the gas mover equipment or active life of the landfill, whichever 
is less.  If the equipment is installed after closure, t is the age of the landfill at 
installation, years 

c =  time since closure, years (for an active landfill c=0 and e-kc =1) 

(ii) For sites with known year-to-year solid waste acceptance rate:

( )Q kL M eM o i

kt

i

n

i= −

=

 2
1

where, 

QM  = maximum expected gas generation flow rate, cubic meters per year 

k      =  methane generation rate constant, year-1 
Lo = methane generation potential, cubic meters per megagram solid waste 

Mi =  mass of solid waste in the ith section, megagrams 

ti =  age of the ith section, years 

(iii) If a collection and control system has been installed, actual flow data may be used to
project the maximum expected gas generation flow rate instead of, or in conjunction with, 
the equations in paragraphs (a)(1)(i) and (ii) of this section.  If the landfill is still accepting 
waste, the actual measured flow data will not equal the maximum expected gas generation 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 28



SS-7039 (November 2022) 14 RDA 1693 

rate, so calculations using the equations in paragraphs (a)(1)(i) or (ii) or other methods 
shall be used to predict the maximum expected gas generation rate over the intended 
period of use of the gas control system equipment. 

2. For the purposes of determining sufficient density of gas collectors for compliance with
§ 60.752(b)(2)(ii)(A)(2), the owner or operator shall design a system of vertical wells, horizontal
collectors, or other collection devices, satisfactory to the Administrator, capable of controlling and 
extracting gas from all portions of the landfill sufficient to meet all operational and performance 
standards. 

3. For the purpose of demonstrating whether the gas collection system flow rate is sufficient to
determine compliance with § 60.752(b)(2)(ii)(A)(3), the owner or operator shall measure gauge 
pressure in the gas collection header at each individual well, monthly.  If a positive pressure exists, 
action shall be initiated to correct the exceedance within 5 calendar days, except for the three 
conditions allowed under § 60.753(b).  If negative pressure cannot be achieved without excess air 
infiltration within 15 calendar days of the first measurement, the gas collection system shall be 
expanded to correct the exceedance within 120 days of the initial measurement of positive 
pressure.  Any attempted corrective measure shall not cause exceedances of other operational or 
performance standards.  An alternate timeline for correcting the exceedance may be submitted to 
the Administrator for approval. 

4. Owners or operators are not required to install additional wells as required in paragraph (a)(3) of
this section during the first 180 days after gas collection system start-up. 

5. For the purpose of identifying whether excess air infiltration into the landfill is occurring, the owner
or operator shall monitor each well monthly for temperature and nitrogen or oxygen as provided in 
§ 60.753(c).  If a well exceeds one of these operating parameters, action shall be initiated to correct
the exceedance within 5 calendar days.  If correction of the exceedance cannot be achieved within 
15 calendar days of the first measurement, the gas collection system shall be expanded to correct 
the exceedance within 120 days of the initial exceedance.  Any attempted corrective measure shall 
not cause exceedances of other operational or performance standards.  An alternate timeline for 
correcting the exceedance may be submitted to the Administrator for approval. 

6. An owner or operator seeking to demonstrate compliance with § 60.752(b)(2)(ii)(A)(4) through the
use of a collection system not conforming to the specifications provided in § 60.759 shall provide 
information satisfactory to the Administrator as specified in § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(C) demonstrating that 
off-site migration is being controlled. 

(b) For purposes of compliance with § 60.753(a), each owner or operator of a controlled landfill shall place
each well or design component as specified in the approved design plan as provided in § 60.752(b)(2)(i).  
Each well shall be installed within 60 days of the date in which the initial solid waste has been in place for 
a period of: 

1. 5 years or more if active; or

2. 2 years or more if closed or at final grade;

(c) The following procedures shall be used for compliance with the surface methane operational standard as
provided in § 60.753(d). 

1. After installation of the collection system, the owner or operator shall monitor surface
concentrations of methane along the entire perimeter of the collection area and along a pattern that 
traverses the landfill at 30 meter intervals (or a site-specific established spacing) for each collection 
area on a quarterly basis using an organic vapor analyzer, flame ionization detector, or other 
portable monitor meeting the specifications provided in paragraph (d) of this section. 

2. The background concentration shall be determined by moving the probe inlet upwind and downwind
outside the boundary of the landfill at a distance of at least 30 meters from the perimeter wells. 

3. Surface emission monitoring shall be performed in accordance with section 4.3.1 of Method 21 of

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 29



SS-7039 (November 2022) 15 RDA 1693 

appendix A of this part, except that the probe inlet shall be placed within 5 to 10 centimeters of the 
ground.  Monitoring shall be performed during typical meteorological conditions. 

4. Any reading of 500 parts per million or more above background at any location shall be recorded
as a monitored exceedance and the actions specified in paragraphs (c)(4)(i) through (v) of this 
section shall be taken.  As long as the specified actions are taken, the exceedance is not a violation 
of the operational requirements of § 60.753(d). 

(i) The location of each monitored exceedance shall be marked and the location recorded.

(ii) Cover maintenance or adjustments to the vacuum of the adjacent wells to increase the gas
collection in the vicinity of each exceedance shall be made and the location shall be re-
monitored within 10 calendar days of detecting the exceedance. 

(iii) If the re-monitoring of the location shows a second exceedance, additional corrective action
shall be taken and the location shall be monitored again within 10 days of the second 
exceedance.  If the re-monitoring shows a third exceedance for the same location, the 
action specified in paragraph (c)(4)(v) of this section shall be taken, and no further 
monitoring of that location is required until the action specified in paragraph (c)(4)(v) has 
been taken. 

(iv) Any location that initially showed an exceedance but has a methane concentration less
than 500 ppm methane above background at the 10-day re-monitoring specified in 
paragraph (c)(4)(ii) or (iii) of this section shall be re-monitored 1 month from the initial 
exceedance.  If the 1-month remonitoring shows a concentration less than 500 parts per 
million above background, no further monitoring of that location is required until the next 
quarterly monitoring period.  If the 1-month remonitoring shows an exceedance, the actions 
specified in paragraph (c)(4)(iii) or (v) shall be taken. 

(v) For any location where monitored methane concentration equals or exceeds 500 parts per
million above background three times within a quarterly period, a new well or other 
collection device shall be installed within 120 calendar days of the initial exceedance.  An 
alternative remedy to the exceedance, such as upgrading the blower, header pipes or 
control device, and a corresponding timeline for installation may be submitted to the 
Administrator for approval. 

5. The owner or operator shall implement a program to monitor for cover integrity and implement
cover repairs as necessary on a monthly basis. 

(d) Each owner or operator seeking to comply with the provisions in paragraph (c) of this section shall comply
with the following instrumentation specifications and procedures for surface emission monitoring devices: 

1. The portable analyzer shall meet the instrument specifications provided in section 3 of Method 21
of appendix A of this part, except that "methane" shall replace all references to VOC. 

2. The calibration gas shall be methane, diluted to a nominal concentration of 500 parts per million in
air. 

3. To meet the performance evaluation requirements in section 3.1.3 of Method 21 of appendix A of
this part, the instrument evaluation procedures of section 4.4 of Method 21 of appendix A of this 
part shall be used. 

4. The calibration procedures provided in section 4.2 of Method 21 of appendix A of this part shall be
followed immediately before commencing a surface monitoring survey. 

(e) The provisions of this subpart apply at all times, except during periods of start-up, shutdown, or malfunction,
provided that the duration of start-up, shutdown, or malfunction shall not exceed 5 days for collection 
systems and shall not exceed 1 hour for treatment or control devices. 

§ 60.756 Monitoring of operations.

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 30



SS-7039 (November 2022) 16 RDA 1693 

Except as provided in § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(B), 

(a) Each owner or operator seeking to comply with § 60.752(b)(2)(ii)(A) for an active gas collection system
shall install a sampling port and a thermometer, other temperature measuring device, or an access port for 
temperature measurements at each wellhead and: 

1. Measure the gauge pressure in the gas collection header on a monthly basis as provided in
§ 60.755(a)(3); and

2. Monitor nitrogen or oxygen concentration in the landfill gas on a monthly basis as provided in
§ 60.755(a)(5); and

3. Monitor temperature of the landfill gas on a monthly basis as provided in § 60.755(a)(5).

(b) Each owner or operator seeking to comply with § 60.752(b)(2)(iii) using an enclosed combustor shall
calibrate, maintain, and operate according to the manufacturer's specifications, the following equipment. 

1. A temperature monitoring device equipped with a continuous recorder and having an accuracy of

+1 percent of the temperature being measured expressed in degrees Celsius or +0.5 oC, whichever
is greater.  A temperature monitoring device is not required for boilers or process heaters with 
design heat input capacity greater than 44 megawatts. 

2. A device that records flow to or bypass of the control device.  The owner or operator shall either:

(i) Install, calibrate, and maintain a gas flow rate measuring device that shall record the flow
to the control device at least every 15 minutes; or 

(ii) Secure the bypass line valve in the closed position with a car-seal or a lock-and-key type
configuration.  A visual inspection of the seal or closure mechanism shall be performed at 
least once every month to ensure that the valve is maintained in the closed position and 
that the gas flow is not diverted through the bypass line. 

(c) Each owner or operator seeking to comply with § 60.752(b)(2)(iii) using an open flare shall install, calibrate,
maintain, and operate according to the manufacturer's specifications the following equipment: 

1. A heat sensing device, such as an ultraviolet beam sensor or thermocouple, at the pilot light or the
flame itself to indicate the continuous presence of a flame. 

2. A device that records flow to or bypass of the flare.  The owner or operator shall either:

(i) Install, calibrate, and maintain a gas flow rate measuring device that shall record the flow
to the control device at least every 15 minutes; or 

(ii) Secure the bypass line valve in the closed position with a car-seal or a lock-and-key type
configuration.  A visual inspection of the seal or closure mechanism shall be performed at 
least once every month to ensure that the valve is maintained in the closed position and 
that the gas flow is not diverted through the bypass line. 

(d) Each owner or operator seeking to demonstrate compliance with § 60.752(b)(2)(iii) using a device other
than an open flare or an enclosed combustor shall provide information satisfactory to the Administrator as 
provided in § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(B) describing the operation of the control device, the operating parameters 
that would indicate proper performance, and appropriate monitoring procedures.  The Administrator shall 
review the information and either approve it, or request that additional information be submitted.  The 
Administrator may specify additional appropriate monitoring procedures. 

(e) Each owner or operator seeking to install a collection system that does not meet the specifications in
§ 60.759 or seeking to monitor alternative parameters to those required by § 60.753 through § 60.756 shall
provide information satisfactory to the Administrator as provided in § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(B) and (C) describing 
the design and operation of the collection system, the operating parameters that would indicate proper 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 31



SS-7039 (November 2022) 17 RDA 1693 

performance, and appropriate monitoring procedures. The Administrator may specify additional 
appropriate monitoring procedures. 

(f) Each owner or operator seeking to demonstrate compliance with § 60.755(c), shall monitor surface
concentrations of methane according to the instrument specifications and procedures provided in 
§ 60.755(d).  Any closed landfill that has no monitored exceedances of the operational standard in three
consecutive quarterly monitoring periods may skip to annual monitoring.  Any methane reading of 500 ppm 
or more above background detected during the annual monitoring returns the frequency for that landfill to 
quarterly monitoring. 

§ 60.757  Reporting requirements.

Except as provided in § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(B), 

(a) Each owner or operator subject to the requirements of this subpart shall submit an initial design capacity
report to the Administrator. 

1. The initial design capacity report shall fulfill the requirements of the notification of the date
construction is commenced as required under § 60.7(a)(1) and shall be submitted no later than: 

(i) June 10, 1996, for landfills that commenced construction, modification, or reconstruction
on or after May 30, 1991 but before March 12, 1996, or 

(ii) Ninety days after the date of commenced construction, modification, or reconstruction for
landfills that commence construction, modification, or reconstruction on or after March 12, 
1996. 

2. The initial design capacity report shall contain the following information:

(i) A map or plot of the landfill, providing the size and location of the landfill, and identifying all
areas where solid waste may be landfilled according to the permit issued by the State, 
local, or Tribal agency responsible for regulating the landfill. 

(ii) The maximum design capacity of the landfill.  Where the maximum design capacity is
specified in the permit issued by the State, local, or Tribal agency responsible for regulating 
the landfill, a copy of the permit specifying the maximum design capacity may be submitted 
as part of the report.  If the maximum design capacity of the landfill is not specified in the 
permit, the maximum design capacity shall be calculated using good engineering practices.  
The calculations shall be provided, along with the relevant parameters as part of the report.  
The State, Tribal, local agency or Administrator may request other reasonable information 
as may be necessary to verify the maximum design capacity of the landfill. 

3. An amended design capacity report shall be submitted to the Administrator providing notification of
an increase in the design capacity of the landfill, within 90 days of an increase in the maximum 
design capacity of the landfill to above 2.5 million megagrams and 2.5 million cubic meters.  This 
increase in design capacity may result from an increase in the permitted volume of the landfill or 
an increase in the density as documented in the annual recalculation required in § 60.758(f). 

(b) Each owner or operator subject to the requirements of this subpart shall submit an NMOC emission rate
report to the Administrator initially and annually thereafter, except as provided for in paragraphs (b)(1)(ii) or 
(b)(3) of this section.  The Administrator may request such additional information as may be necessary to 
verify the reported NMOC emission rate. 

1. The NMOC emission rate report shall contain an annual or 5-year estimate of the NMOC emission
rate calculated using the formula and procedures provided in § 60.754(a) or (b), as applicable. 

(i) The initial NMOC emission rate report may be combined with the initial design capacity
report required in paragraph (a) of this section and shall be submitted no later than 
indicated in paragraphs (b)(1)(i)(A) and (B) of this section.  Subsequent NMOC emission 
rate reports shall be submitted annually thereafter, except as provided for in 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 32



SS-7039 (November 2022) 18 RDA 1693 

paragraphs (b)(1)(ii) and (b)(3) of this section. 

(A) June 10, 1996, for landfills that commenced construction, modification, or
reconstruction on or after May 30, 1991, but before March 12, 1996, or 

(B) Ninety days after the date of commenced construction, modification, or
reconstruction for landfills that commence construction on or after March 12, 1996. 

(ii) If the estimated NMOC emission rate as reported in the annual report to the Administrator
is less than 50 megagrams per year in each of the next 5 consecutive years, the owner or 
operator may elect to submit an estimate of the NMOC emission rate for the next 5-year 
period in lieu of the annual report.  This estimate shall include the current amount of solid 
waste-in-place and the estimated waste acceptance rate for each year of the 5 years for 
which an NMOC emission rate is estimated.  All data and calculations upon which this 
estimate is based shall be provided to the Administrator.  This estimate shall be revised at 
least once every 5 years.  If the actual waste acceptance rate exceeds the estimated waste 
acceptance rate in any year reported in the 5-year estimate, a revised 5-year estimate shall 
be submitted to the Administrator.  The revised estimate shall cover the 5-year period 
beginning with the year in which the actual waste acceptance rate exceeded the estimated 
waste acceptance rate.  

2. The NMOC emission rate report shall include all the data, calculations, sample reports and
measurements used to estimate the annual or 5-year emissions. 

3. Each owner or operator subject to the requirements of this subpart is exempted from the
requirements of paragraphs (b)(1) and (2) of this section, after the installation of a collection and 
control system in compliance with § 60.752(b)(2), during such time as the collection and control 
system is in operation and in compliance with § § 60.753 and 60.755. 

(c) Each owner or operator subject to the provisions of § 60.752(b)(2)(i) shall submit a collection and control
system design plan to the Administrator within 1 year of the first report, required under paragraph (b) of this 
section, in which the emission rate exceeds 50 megagrams per year, except as follows: 

1. If the owner or operator elects to recalculate the NMOC emission rate after Tier 2 NMOC sampling
and analysis as provided in § 60.754(a)(3) and the resulting rate is less than 50 megagrams per 
year, annual periodic reporting shall be resumed, using the Tier 2 determined site-specific NMOC 
concentration, until the calculated emission rate is equal to or greater than 50 megagrams per year 
or the landfill is closed.  The revised NMOC emission rate report, with the recalculated emission 
rate based on NMOC sampling and analysis, shall be submitted within 180 days of the first 
calculated exceedance of 50 megagrams per year. 

2. If the owner or operator elects to recalculate the NMOC emission rate after determining a
site-specific methane generation rate constant (k), as provided in Tier 3 in § 60.754(a)(4), and the 
resulting NMOC emission rate is less than 50 Mg/yr, annual periodic reporting shall be resumed. 
The resulting site-specific methane generation rate constant (k) shall be used in the emission rate 
calculation until such time as the emissions rate calculation results in an exceedance.  The revised 
NMOC emission rate report based on the provisions of § 60.754(a)(4) and the resulting site-specific 
methane generation rate constant (k) shall be submitted to the Administrator within 1 year of the 
first calculated emission rate exceeding 50 megagrams per year. 

(d) Each owner or operator of a controlled landfill shall submit a closure report to the Administrator within
30 days of waste acceptance cessation.  The Administrator may request additional information as may be 
necessary to verify that permanent closure has taken place in accordance with the requirements of 40 
CFR 258.60 of this title.  If a closure report has been submitted to the Administrator, no additional wastes 
may be placed into the landfill without filing a notification of modification as described under § 60.7(a)(4). 

(e) Each owner or operator of a controlled landfill shall submit an equipment removal report to the Administrator
30 days prior to removal or cessation of operation of the control equipment. 

1. The equipment removal report shall contain all of the following items:

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 33



SS-7039 (November 2022) 19 RDA 1693 

(i) A copy of the closure report submitted in accordance with paragraph (d) of this section;

(ii) A copy of the initial performance test report demonstrating that the 15 year minimum
control period has expired; and 

(iii) Dated copies of three successive NMOC emission rate reports demonstrating that the
landfill is no longer producing 50 megagrams or greater of NMOC per year.  

2. The Administrator may request such additional information as may be necessary to verify that all
of the conditions for removal in § 60.752(b)(2)(v) have been met. 

(f) Each owner or operator of a landfill seeking to comply with § 60.752(b)(2) using an active collection system
designed in accordance with § 60.752(b)(2)(ii) shall submit to the Administrator annual reports of the 
recorded information in (f)(1) through (f)(6) of this paragraph.  The initial annual report shall be submitted 
within 180 days of installation and start-up of the collection and control system, and shall include the initial 
performance test report required under § 60.8.  For enclosed combustion devices and flares, reportable 
exceedances are defined under § 60.758(c). 

1. Value and length of time for exceedance of applicable parameters monitored under § 60.756(a),
(b), (c), and (d).  

2. Description and duration of all periods when the gas stream is diverted from the control device
through a bypass line or the indication of bypass flow as specified under § 60.756. 

3. Description and duration of all periods when the control device was not operating for a period
exceeding 1 hour and length of time the control device was not operating. 

4. All periods when the collection system was not operating in excess of 5 days.

5. The location of each exceedance of the 500 parts per million methane concentration as provided
in § 60.753(d) and the concentration recorded at each location for which an exceedance was 
recorded in the previous month. 

6. The date of installation and the location of each well or collection system expansion added pursuant
to paragraphs (a)(3), (b), and (c)(4) of § 60.755. 

(g) Each owner or operator seeking to comply with § 60.752(b)(2)(iii) shall include the following information
with the initial performance test report required under § 60.8: 

1. A diagram of the collection system showing collection system positioning including all wells,
horizontal collectors, surface collectors, or other gas extraction devices, including the locations of 
any areas excluded from collection and the proposed sites for the future collection system 
expansion; 

2. The data upon which the sufficient density of wells, horizontal collectors, surface collectors, or other
gas extraction devices and the gas mover equipment sizing are based; 

3. The documentation of the presence of asbestos or nondegradable material for each area from
which collection wells have been excluded based on the presence of asbestos or nondegradable 
material; 

4. The sum of the gas generation flow rates for all areas from which collection wells have been
excluded based on nonproductivity and the calculations of gas generation flow rate for each 
excluded area; and 

5. The provisions for increasing gas mover equipment capacity with increased gas generation flow
rate, if the present gas mover equipment is inadequate to move the maximum flow rate expected 
over the life of the landfill; and 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 34



SS-7039 (November 2022) 20 RDA 1693 

6. The provisions for the control of off-site migration.

§ 60.758  Recordkeeping requirements.

(a) Except as provided in § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(B), each owner or operator of an MSW landfill subject to the
provisions of § 60.752(b) shall keep for at least 5 years up-to-date, readily accessible, on-site records of 
the maximum design capacity report which triggered §60.752(b), the current amount of solid waste in-place, 
and the year-by-year waste acceptance rate.  Off-site records may be maintained if they are retrievable 
within 4 hours.  Either paper copy or electronic formats are acceptable. 

(b) Except as provided in § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(B), each owner or operator of a controlled landfill shall keep up-to-
date, readily accessible records for the life of the control equipment of the data listed in paragraphs (b)(1) 
through (b)(4) of this section as measured during the initial performance test or compliance determination.  
Records of subsequent tests or monitoring shall be maintained for a minimum of 5 years.  Records of the 
control device vendor specifications shall be maintained until removal. 

1. Where an owner or operator subject to the provisions of this subpart seeks to demonstrate
compliance with § 60.752(b)(2)(ii): 

(i) The maximum expected gas generation flow rate as calculated in § 60.755(a)(1).  The
owner or operator may use another method to determine the maximum gas generation flow 
rate, if the method has been approved by the Administrator. 

(ii) The density of wells, horizontal collectors, surface collectors, or other gas extraction
devices determined using the procedures specified in § 60.759(a)(1). 

2. Where an owner or operator subject to the provisions of this subpart seeks to demonstrate
compliance with § 60.752(b)(2)(iii) through use of an enclosed combustion device other than a 
boiler or process heater with a design heat input capacity greater than 44 megawatts: 

(i) The average combustion temperature measured at least every 15 minutes and averaged
over the same time period of the performance test. 

(ii) The percent reduction of NMOC determined as specified in § 60.752(b)(2)(iii)(B) achieved
by the control device. 

3. Where an owner or operator subject to the provisions of this subpart seeks to demonstrate
compliance with § 60.752(b)(2)(iii)(B)(1) through use of a boiler or process heater of any size: a 
description of the location at which the collected gas vent stream is introduced into the boiler or 
process heater over the same time period of the performance testing. 

4. Where an owner or operator subject to the provisions of this subpart seeks to demonstrate
compliance with § 60.752(b)(2)(iii)(A) through use of an open flare, the flare type (i.e., steam-
assisted, air-assisted, or nonassisted), all visible emission readings, heat content determination, 
flow rate or bypass flow rate measurements, and exit velocity determinations made during the 
performance test as specified in § 60.18; continuous records of the flare pilot flame or flare flame 
monitoring and records of all periods of operations during which the pilot flame of the flare flame is 
absent. 

(c) Except as provided in § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(B), each owner or operator of a controlled landfill subject to the
provisions of this subpart shall keep for 5 years up-to-date, readily accessible continuous records of the 
equipment operating parameters specified to be monitored in § 60.756 as well as up-to-date, readily 
accessible records for periods of operation during which the parameter boundaries established during the 
most recent performance test are exceeded. 

1. The following constitute exceedances that shall be recorded and reported under § 60.757(f):

(i) For enclosed combustors except for boilers and process heaters with design heat input
capacity of 44 megawatts (150 million British thermal unit per hour) or greater, all 3-hour 

periods of operation during which the average combustion temperature was more than 28 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 35



SS-7039 (November 2022) 21 RDA 1693 

oC below the average combustion temperature during the most recent performance test at 
which compliance with § 60.752(b)(2)(iii) was determined. 

(ii) For boilers or process heaters, whenever there is a change in the location at which the
vent stream is introduced into the flame zone as required under paragraph (b)(3) of this 
section. 

2. Each owner or operator subject to the provisions of this subpart shall keep up-to-date, readily
accessible continuous records of the indication of flow to the control device or the indication of 
bypass flow or records of monthly inspections of car-seals or lock-and-key configurations used to 
seal bypass lines, specified under § 60.756. 

3. Each owner or operator subject to the provisions of this subpart who uses a boiler or process heater
with a design heat input capacity of 44 megawatts or greater to comply with § 60.752(b)(2)(iii) shall 
keep an up-to-date, readily accessible record of all periods of operation of the boiler or process 
heater.  (Examples of such records could include records of steam use, fuel use, or monitoring data 
collected pursuant to other State, local, Tribal, or Federal regulatory requirements.) 

4. Each owner or operator seeking to comply with the provisions of this subpart by use of an open
flare shall keep up-to-date, readily accessible continuous records of the flame or flare pilot flame 
monitoring specified under § 60.756(c), and up-to-date, readily accessible records of all periods of 
operation in which the flame or flare pilot flame is absent. 

(d) Except as provided in § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(B), each owner or operator subject to the provisions of this subpart
shall keep for the life of the collection system an up-to-date, readily accessible plot map showing each 
existing and planned collector in the system and providing a unique identification location label for each 
collector. 

1. Each owner or operator subject to the provisions of this subpart shall keep up-to-date, readily
accessible records of the installation date and location of all newly installed collectors as specified 
under § 60.755(b). 

2. Each owner or operator subject to the provisions of this subpart shall keep readily accessible
documentation of the nature, date of deposition, amount, and location of asbestos-containing or 
nondegradable waste excluded from collection as provided in § 60.759(a)(3)(i) as well as any 
nonproductive areas excluded from collection as provided in § 60.759(a)(3)(ii). 

(e) Except as provided in § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(B), each owner or operator subject to the provisions of this subpart
shall keep for at least 5 years up-to-date, readily accessible records of all collection and control system 
exceedances of the operational standards in § 60.753, the reading in the subsequent month whether or not 
the second reading is an exceedance, and the location of each exceedance. 

(f) Landfill owners or operators who convert design capacity from volume to mass or mass to volume to
demonstrate that landfill design capacity is less than 2.5 million megagrams or 2.5 million cubic meters, as 
provided in the definition of “design capacity” shall keep readily accessible, on-site records of the annual 
recalculation of site-specific density, design capacity, and the supporting documentation.  Off-site records 
may be maintained if they are retrievable within 4 hours.  Either paper copy or electronic formats are 
acceptable. 

§ 60.759 Specifications for active collection systems.

(a) Each owner or operator seeking to comply with  § 60.752(b)(2)(i) shall site active collection wells, horizontal
collectors, surface collectors, or other extraction devices at a sufficient density throughout all gas producing 
areas using the following procedures unless alternative procedures have been approved by the 
Administrator as provided in § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(C) and (D): 

1. The collection devices within the interior and along the perimeter areas shall be certified to achieve
comprehensive control of surface gas emissions by a professional engineer.  The following issues 
shall be addressed in the design: depths of refuse, refuse gas generation rates and flow 
characteristics, cover properties, gas system expandibility, leachate and condensate management, 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 36



SS-7039 (November 2022) 22 RDA 1693 

accessibility, compatibility with filling operations, integration with closure end use, air intrusion 
control, corrosion resistance, fill settlement, and resistance to the refuse decomposition heat. 

2. The sufficient density of gas collection devices determined in paragraph (a)(1) of this section shall
address landfill gas migration issues and augmentation of the collection system through the use of 
active or passive systems at the landfill perimeter or exterior. 

3. The placement of gas collection devices determined in paragraph (a)(1) of this section shall control
all gas producing areas, except as provided by paragraphs (a)(3)(i) and (a)(3)(ii) of this section. 

(i) Any segregated area of asbestos or nondegradable material may be excluded from
collection if documented as provided under § 60.758(d).  The documentation shall provide 
the nature, date of deposition, location and amount of asbestos or nondegradable material 
deposited in the area, and shall be provided to the Administrator upon request. 

(ii) Any nonproductive area of the landfill may be excluded from control, provided that the total
of all excluded areas can be shown to contribute less than 1 percent of the total amount of 
NMOC emissions from the landfill.  The amount, location, and age of the material shall be 
documented and provided to the Administrator upon request.  A separate NMOC emissions 
estimate shall be made for each section proposed for exclusion, and the sum of all such 
sections shall be compared to the NMOC emissions estimate for the entire landfill.  
Emissions from each section shall be computed using the following equation: 

Qi  = 2 k Lo Mi (e-kti) (CNMOC) (3.6 x 10-9)

where, 

Qi = NMOC emission rate from the ith section, megagrams per year 

k  = methane generation rate constant, year -1 
Lo = methane generation potential, cubic meters per megagram solid waste 

Mi = mass of the degradable solid waste in the ith section, megagram 

ti = age of the solid waste in the ith section, years 

CNMOC = concentration of nonmethane organic compounds, parts per million by 

volume 

3.6 x 10-9 = conversion factor 

(iii) The values for k, Lo, and CNMOC determined in field testing shall be used if field testing

has been performed in determining the NMOC emission rate or the radii of influence (this 
distance from the well center to a point in the landfill where the pressure gradient applied 
by the blower or compressor approaches zero).  If field testing has not been performed, 
the default values for k, Lo and CNMOC provided in § 60.754(a)(1) or the alternate values 

from §60.754(a)(5) shall be used.  The mass of nondegradable solid waste contained within 
the given section may be subtracted from the total mass of the section when estimating 
emissions provided the nature, location, age, and amount of the nondegradable material 
is documented as provided in paragraph (a)(3)(i) of this section. 

(b) Each owner or operator seeking to comply with § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(A) shall construct the gas collection
devices using the following equipment or procedures: 

1. The landfill gas extraction components shall be constructed of polyvinyl chloride (PVC), high
density polyethylene (HDPE) pipe, fiberglass, stainless steel, or other nonporous corrosion 
resistant material of suitable dimensions to: convey projected amounts of gases; withstand 
installation, static, and settlement forces; and withstand planned overburden or traffic loads.  The 
collection system shall extend as necessary to comply with emission and migration standards.  
Collection devices such as wells and horizontal collectors shall be perforated to allow gas entry 
without head loss sufficient to impair performance across the intended extent of control.  
Perforations shall be situated with regard to the need to prevent excessive air infiltration. 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 37



SS-7039 (November 2022) 23 RDA 1693 

2. Vertical wells shall be placed so as not to endanger underlying liners and shall address the
occurrence of water within the landfill.  Holes and trenches constructed for piped wells and 
horizontal collectors shall be of sufficient cross-section so as to allow for their proper construction 
and completion including, for example, centering of pipes and placement of gravel backfill.  
Collection devices shall be designed so as not to allow indirect short circuiting of air into the cover 
or refuse into the collection system or gas into the air.  Any gravel used around pipe perforations 
should be of a dimension so as not to penetrate or block perforations. 

3. Collection devices may be connected to the collection header pipes below or above the landfill
surface.  The connector assembly shall include a positive closing throttle valve, any necessary 
seals and couplings, access couplings and at least one sampling port.  The collection devices shall 
be constructed of PVC, HDPE, fiberglass, stainless steel, or other nonporous material of suitable 
thickness. 

(c) Each owner or operator seeking to comply with § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(A) shall convey the landfill gas to a control
system in compliance with § 60.752(b)(2)(iii) through the collection header pipe(s).  The gas mover 
equipment shall be sized to handle the maximum gas generation flow rate expected over the intended use 
period of the gas moving equipment using the following procedures: 

1. For existing collection systems, the flow data shall be used to project the maximum flow rate.  If no
flow data exists, the procedures in paragraph (c)(2) of this section shall be used. 

2. For new collection systems, the maximum flow rate shall be in accordance with § 60.755(a)(1).

Authority: T.C.A. §§ 4-5-201 et seq. and 68-201-101 et seq. 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 38



SS-7039 (November 2022) 24 RDA 1693 

* If a roll-call vote was necessary, the vote by the Agency on these rulemaking hearing rules was as follows:

Board Member Aye No Abstain Absent Signature 
(if required) 

Dr. Ronné Adkins 
Commissioner's Designee, Dept. of 
Environment and Conservation 

Dr. John Benitez 
Licensed Physician with experience in health 
effects of air pollutants 

Dr. Joshua Fu 
Involved with Institution of Higher Learning on 
air pollution evaluation and control 

Mike Haverstick  
Working in management in Private 
Manufacturing 

Dr. Shawn A. Hawkins 
Working in field related to Agriculture or 
Conservation 

Richard Holland 
Working for Industry with technical experience 

Caitlin Roberts Jennings 
Small Generator of Air Pollution representing 
Automotive Interests 

Dr. Chunrong Jia 
Environmental Interests 

Ken Moore 
Working in Municipal Government 

Stephen Moore 
Working for Industry with technical experience 

Amy Spann, PE 
Registered Professional Engineer 

Vacant 
Conservation Interest 

Larry Waters 
County Mayor 

Jimmy West 
Commissioner's Designee, Dept. of Economic 
and Community Development 

I certify that this is an accurate and complete copy of rulemaking hearing rules, lawfully promulgated and adopted 
by the Air Pollution Control Board on 05/10/2023, and is in compliance with the provisions of T.C.A. § 4-5-222. 

I further certify the following: 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 39



SS-7039 (November 2022) 25 RDA 1693 

Notice of Rulemaking Hearing filed with the Department of State on: 10/10/2022 

Rulemaking Hearing(s) Conducted on: (add more dates). 12/06/2022 

Date: 

Signature:  

Name of Officer: Michelle W. Owenby 

Title of Officer:  Technical Secretary 

Agency/Board/Commission: 

Rule Chapter Number(s):  0400-30-39 and 1200-03-07 

All rulemaking hearing rules provided for herein have been examined by the Attorney General and Reporter of the 
State of Tennessee and are approved as to legality pursuant to the provisions of the Administrative Procedures 
Act, Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 4, Chapter 5.  

______________________________ 
Jonathan Skrmetti 

Attorney General and Reporter 

______________________________ 
Date 

Department of State Use Only 

Filed with the Department of State on: 

Effective on: 

_________________________________ 
Tre Hargett 

Secretary of State 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 40



SS-7039 (November 2022) 26 RDA 1693 

Public Hearing Comments 

One copy of a document that satisfies T.C.A. § 4-5-222 must accompany the filing. 

All comments were submitted by U. S. EPA: 

1. Comment: The cover letter of Tennessee’s pre-hearing submittal states that this submittal is a “prehearing
draft copy of Tennessee’s Clean Air Act §111(d) Plan submittal for compliance with 40 C.F.R. Part 
60 Subpart Cf [and that] Tennessee proposes to comply with Subpart Cf by incorporating the 
equivalent federal plan (40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO) by reference.” However, one of the newly 
proposed rules – Regulation 0400-30-39-.03(1)(a)1 – states that “‘Administrator’ means the 
Technical Secretary of the Tennessee Air Pollution Control Board in those cases for which authority 
to implement and enforce provisions of the rule have been delegated to the State of Tennessee. 
Otherwise, ‘Administrator’ means the Administrator of the United States Environmental Protection 
Agency.” (Emphasis added). Because this particular rule discusses delegation, it is unclear if 
Tennessee is intending to request delegation of the Federal Plan or is intending to submit its own 
Section 111(d) plan based upon the Federal Plan as stated in the prehearing submittal cover letter. 
For the remainder of EPA’s comments, EPA will assume that Tennessee is intending to submit its 
own plan under Section 111(d). 

Response:  Tennessee is submitting a 111(d) plan and not a delegation request. The “delegation” language to 
which EPA refers is included in Rule 0400-30-39-.03(1)(a)1, and this language reflects EPA’s own 
language in 40 C.F.R. § 62.16710(b) (“The following authorities will not be delegated to state, local, 
or tribal agencies”). Tennessee has revised the language of Rule 0400-30-39-.03(1)(a)1 (see 
response to comment #2) to remove the reference to delegation.   

2. Comment: Tennessee’s pre-hearing plan proposes to adopt a new rule that states, in part, the following:

• “All facilities subject to this paragraph shall comply with the provisions of 40 C.F.R. Part 62
Subpart OOO, §§ 62.16710 through 62.16730.”

• “The provisions of 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO (Federal Plan Requirements for Municipal
Solid Waste Landfills That Commenced Construction On or Before July 17, 2014, and Have
Not Been Modified or Reconstructed Since July 17, 2014), as published in the July 1, 2022,
edition of the Code of Federal Regulations, are hereby adopted by reference.”

While EPA believes as a general matter that adopting by reference the substantive requirements 
applicable to sources within 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO (hereafter “Federal Plan”) into 
Tennessee’s regulations could form the basis of an approvable Subpart Cf plan, Tennessee’s 
proposed blanket adoption of this rule presents two categories of concerns that should be 
addressed before submitting the plan to EPA. 

First, there are certain provisions within the Federal Plan that explicitly cannot be delegated to 
states. See generally 40 C.F.R. § 62.16710(b). Adoption of provisions of the type discussed in 40 
C.F.R. § 62.16710(b) could render the plan unapprovable by EPA. While EPA recognizes that
Tennessee appears to not be seeking delegation of the Federal Plan and is instead proposing to
submit a state plan based on the Federal Plan, many of the same limitations on the scope of
delegation of the Federal Plan nonetheless still apply. For example, 40 C.F.R. § 62.16718(a)(5) –
which allows EPA to approve alternative NMOC concentration monitoring approaches and is a
provision that Tennessee is proposing to adopt by reference – cannot be delegated to states under
40 C.F.R. § 62.16710(b). Likewise, EPA does not believe that it could approve this type of
provision in Tennessee’s Section 111(d) state plan because it would provide substantial discretion
to TDEC to approve “other methods to determine the NMOC concentration or a site-specific
methane generation rate constant as an alternative…” One possible approach to address this
comment would be for TDEC to adopt by reference 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO, except for
any provisions of the types referenced in 40 C.F.R. § 62.16710(b).

Second, there are certain other provisions within 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO that may be 
problematic to adopt by reference in full. Examples of such provisions include: 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 41



SS-7039 (November 2022) 27 RDA 1693 

• § 62.16710(b) (this provision lists authorities that cannot be delegated by EPA)

• § 62.16711(b) (this provision uses the phrase “EPA-approved”)

• § 62.16712(a)(5) (this provision uses the phrase “EPA-approved”)

• § 62.16718(a)(5) (this provision discusses approval of alternative methods to determine NMOC
concentration)

• § 62.16724 (these provisions contain reporting guidelines that reference EPA and certain

• EPA reporting systems, such as the Central Data Exchange)

Response: Tennessee revised the definition of “Administrator” in Rule 0400-30-39-.03(1)(a)1 as follows to 
address EPA’s concerns: 

"Administrator" means the Technical Secretary of the Tennessee Air Pollution Control Board, 
except that with respect to 40 C.F.R. §§ 62.16710(b) (and the specific authorities enumerated 
therein), 62.16711(b), 62.16712(a)(5), 62.16718(a)(5), and 62.16724, “Administrator” means the 
Administrator of the United States Environmental Protection Agency or the Administrator’s 
authorized representative. 

Incorporations by reference frequently capture provisions for which authority is not delegated to the 
state or local agency, and there is no reason to exclude the specific provisions enumerated by EPA 
from the final rule. 

3. Comment: EPA recommends that TDEC consider adding language to the narrative which informs
reviewers/users that until a state plan is approved, EPA is required to administer the Federal Plan 
within Tennessee. Related to this topic, EPA additionally recommends including language in the 
narrative indicating whether and how the state intends to incorporate any EPA determinations 
undertaken during the course of implementing the Federal Plan. Alternatively, TDEC may choose 
to address this issue on a case-by-case basis for each individual facility. 

Response: EPA’s requested language was added to the table of 111(d) plan requirements, which was 
separately the subject of a public hearing on December 6, 2022. Regarding EPA’s related issue 
(EPA determinations undertaken during the course of implementing the Federal Plan), any such 
requirements will be addressed on a case-by-case basis for each individual facility.   

4. Comment: Page 12, Rule 0400-30-39-.03(1)(d) states “[f]or any facility subject to this paragraph, compliance
with 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO, as adopted herein, ensures compliance with the requirements 
codified in 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subparts Cc, Cf, and WWW.” At the same time, Tennessee proposes 
to repeal Rules 1200-03-07-.07(7) and 1200-03-07-07(9), which implement the landfill 
requirements established by 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart WWW (Standards of Performance for 
Municipal Solid Waste Landfills) and 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart Cc (Emission Guidelines and 
Compliance Times for Municipal Solid Waste Landfills). EPA recommends removing the proposed 
language in Rule 0400-30-39-.03(1)(d) because this language may have unintended 
consequences. For example, portions of 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO regarding certain legacy 
landfills allow for compliance with aspects of the Federal Plan through compliance with portions of 
40 C.F.R. Part 60, Subpart WWW; Subpart GGG of 40 C.F.R. Part 62; or a state plan implementing 
40 C.F.R. Part 60, Subpart Cc. Rule 0400-30-39-.03(1)(d) appears to propose the inverse here.  

Response: The proposed language of Rule 0400-30-39-.03(1)(d) was removed from the final rule. EPA’s 
revision to 40 C.F.R. § 60.750(d)(1) states that municipal solid waste landfills must continue to 
comply with Subpart WWW until they become subject to the more stringent requirements in an 
approved and effective state or federal plan that implements 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart Cf. This 
EPA revision accomplishes the intent and purpose of the deleted language.    

5. Comment: Appendix F provides a list of affected Municipal Solid Waste Landfills, but the list appears to include
certain modified landfills subject to NSPS XXX as applicable to the Federal Plan requirements. 
Please consider removing 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart XXX landfills from the 111(d) State Plan. 

Response: NSPS XXX landfills will be removed from the final plan. 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 42



SS-7039 (November 2022) 28 RDA 1693 

Regulatory Flexibility Addendum 

Pursuant to T.C.A. §§ 4-5-401 through 4-5-404, prior to initiating the rule making process, all agencies shall 
conduct a review of whether a proposed rule or rule affects small business.  

This rule is federally mandated and substantially codifies existing state or federal law, as follows. 

• Section 111(d) of the Clean Air Act requires the Administrator of the U. S. EPA to prescribe regulations under
which each state must submit plans establishing standards for any stationary source category subject to Section
111 of the federal act for any existing source. Section 111(d)(2) grants the Administrator the authority to
prescribe a federal plan that applies if any state fails to submit a satisfactory plan.

• 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart Cf establishes EPA’s state plan requirements for municipal solid waste landfills, and
40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO specifies equivalent federal plan requirements.

• The federal plan, which is implemented and enforced directly by EPA, applies if Tennessee fails to submit a
state plan.

• This rule satisfies the requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart Cf. Tennessee satisfied this requirement by
adopting the language of 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO, because the federal plan language removes the
requirement for existing landfills to resubmit certain reports (i.e., the federal plan language is slightly less
burdensome than the state plan language).

Pursuant to T.C.A. § 4-5-404, a regulatory flexibility analysis is not required. 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 43



SS-7039 (November 2022) 29 RDA 1693 

Impact on Local Governments 

Pursuant to T.C.A. §§ 4-5-220 and 4-5-228, “On any rule and regulation proposed to be promulgated, the 
proposing agency shall state in a simple declarative sentence, without additional comments on the merits or the 
policy of the rule or regulation, whether the rule or regulation may have a projected financial impact on local 
governments. The statement shall describe the financial impact in terms of increase in expenditures or decrease 
in revenues.”  

The Board anticipates that this rule will not result in an increase in expenditures or a decrease in revenues for 
local governments. 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 44



SS-7039 (November 2022) 30 RDA 1693 

Additional Information Required by Joint Government Operations Committee 

All agencies, upon filing a rule, must also submit the following pursuant to T.C.A. § 4-5-226(i)(1). 

(A) A brief summary of the rule and a description of all relevant changes in previous regulations effectuated by
such rule;

This rulemaking amends Chapter 0400-30-39 to add new Rule 0400-30-39-.03 to include compliance 
requirements for municipal solid waste landfills, as codified in 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO. This rulemaking 
also amends paragraph (7) and (9) of Rule 1200-03-07-.07 to remove corresponding, but outdated, landfill 
requirements. 

(B) A citation to and brief description of any federal law or regulation or any state law or regulation mandating
promulgation of such rule or establishing guidelines relevant thereto;

This rule is federally mandated and substantially codifies existing state or federal law, as follows.  

• Section 111(d) of the Clean Air Act requires the Administrator of the U. S. EPA to prescribe regulations
under which each state must submit plans establishing standards for any stationary source category
subject to Section 111 of the federal act for any existing source.  Section 111(d)(2) grants the Administrator
the authority to prescribe a federal plan that applies if any state fails to submit a satisfactory plan.

• 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart Cf establishes EPA’s state plan requirements for municipal solid waste landfills,
and 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO specifies equivalent federal plan requirements.

• The federal plan, which is implemented and enforced directly by EPA, applies if Tennessee fails to submit
a state plan.

This rule satisfies the requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart Cf.  Tennessee satisfied this requirement by 
adopting the language of 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO, because the federal plan language removes the 
requirement for existing landfills to resubmit certain reports (i.e., the federal plan language is slightly less 
burdensome than the state plan language). 

(C) Identification of persons, organizations, corporations or governmental entities most directly affected by this
rule, and whether those persons, organizations, corporations or governmental entities urge adoption or
rejection of this rule;

Persons, organizations, corporations, or governmental entities most directly affected by this rulemaking are the 
following facilities:   

Dyersburg City Landfill (Dyer County); Jefferson County Landfill (Jefferson County); Jere Kirk Disposal (Dyer 
County); Lauderdale County Landfill (Lauderdale County); Pickett County Landfill (Pickett County); Sevier Solid 
Waste, Inc. (Sevier County); Carter Valley Landfill (Hawkins County); Middle Point Landfill (Rutherford County); 
North Shelby Landfill (Shelby County); South Shelby Landfill (Shelby County); Matlock Bend Landfill (Loudon 
County); Rhea County Landfill (Rhea County); Alcoa-Maryville-Blount County Landfill (Blount County); Volunteer 
Regional Landfill (Scott County); Chestnut Ridge Landfill (Anderson County); West Camden Sanitary Landfill 
(Benton County); Iris Glen Environmental Center (Washington County); Bradley County Landfill (Bradley County); 
Northwest Tennessee Landfill (Obion County); Waste Service of Decatur, LLC-Decatur County Landfill (Decatur 
County); City of Chattanooga Birchwood Landfill (Hamilton County); Jackson Madison County Landfill (Madison 
County); McMinn County Landfill (McMinn County); and Marion County Landfill (Marion County). 

(D) Identification of any opinions of the attorney general and reporter or any judicial ruling that directly relates to
the rule or the necessity to promulgate the rule;

The Board is not aware of any opinions of the Attorney General and Reporter or any judicial ruling that directly 
relates to the rule or the necessity to promulgate the rule. 

(E) An estimate of the probable increase or decrease in state and local government revenues and expenditures,
if any, resulting from the promulgation of this rule, and assumptions and reasoning upon which the estimate

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 45



SS-7039 (November 2022) 31 RDA 1693 

is based. An agency shall not state that the fiscal impact is minimal if the fiscal impact is more than two 
percent (2%) of the agency's annual budget or five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000), whichever is less; 

The Board anticipates that this rule will not result in an increase in expenditures or a decrease in revenues for 
state or local governments. 

(F) Identification of the appropriate agency representative or representatives, possessing substantial knowledge
and understanding of the rule;

Jimmy Johnston 
Division of Air Pollution Control 
William R. Snodgrass Tennessee Tower 
312 Rosa L. Parks Avenue, 15th Floor 
Nashville, Tennessee 37243 
James.Johnston@tn.gov 

(G) Identification of the appropriate agency representative or representatives who will explain the rule at a
scheduled meeting of the committees;

Blair Beaty 
Legislative Director 
Office of General Counsel 

(H) Office address, telephone number, and email address of the agency representative or representatives who
will explain the rule at a scheduled meeting of the committees; and

Office of General Counsel 
Tennessee Department of Environment and Conservation 
William R. Snodgrass Tennessee Tower 
312 Rosa L. Parks Avenue, 2nd Floor 
Nashville, Tennessee 37243 
(615) 253-5339
Blair.Beaty@tn.gov

(I) Any additional information relevant to the rule proposed for continuation that the committee requests.

(1) A description of the action proposed, the purpose of the action, the legal authority for the action and the
plan for implementing the action.

This rulemaking establishes a state plan for compliance requirements for municipal solid waste landfills
constructed, modified, or reconstructed on or before July 17, 2014. This rule was adopted in response to
40 C.F.R. Part 60, Subpart Cf, which requires states to establish such plans. This rule is adopted pursuant
to T.C.A. §§ 4-5-201 to -231 and 68-201-101 to -121.

(2) A determination that the action is the least-cost method for achieving the stated purpose.

This action is the least-costly method for achieving the intent and purpose of the regulation because it
complies with the requirements established by 40 C.F.R. Part 60 Subpart Cf without imposing additional
costs. Furthermore, by adopting the provisions of 40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO, this rule removes
certain redundancies in notification and reporting that would otherwise apply.

(3) A comparison of the cost-benefit relation of the action to nonaction.

The Board has determined that there is no cost-benefit relation of this rulemaking action compared to
nonaction, because if no action is taken on this rule, affected landfills will still be required to comply with
40 C.F.R. Part 62 Subpart OOO. The difference in action and nonaction at the state level is that the rule
would be implemented and enforced directly by U. S. EPA if this rule is not adopted at the state level.

(4) A determination that the action represents the most efficient allocation of public and private resources.

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 46



SS-7039 (November 2022) 32 RDA 1693 

The Board has determined that this rule represents the most efficient allocation of public and private 
resources because implementation and enforcement at the state level is likely to be more efficient than 
implementation by U. S. EPA. Similarly, the Board believes that regulated entities will allocate their own 
resources more efficiently by dealing with the Division of Air Pollution Control rather than with U. S. EPA. 

(5) A determination of the effect of the action on competition.

The Board has determined that this rule will have no effect on competition, because all landfills will be
subject to the same requirements. As noted above, these requirements would be implemented and
enforced directly by U. S. EPA if this rule is not adopted at the state level.

(6) A determination of the effect of the action on the cost of living in the geographical area in which the
action would occur.

The Board has determined that this rule will not affect the cost of living in the geographical area in which
the action would occur.

(7) A determination of the effect of the action on employment in the geographical area in which the action
would occur.

The Board has determined that this rule will not affect employment in the geographical area in which the
action would occur.

(8) The source of revenue to be used for the action.

The action would be funded primarily through Title V fees.

(9) A conclusion as to the economic impact upon all persons substantially affected by the action, including
an analysis containing a description as to which persons will bear the costs of the action and which
persons will benefit directly and indirectly from the action.

The Board has determined that this rule will not have a substantial economic impact upon the persons
substantially affected by this action. The costs associated with this rule will be borne by municipal solid
waste landfills constructed, modified, or reconstructed on or before July 17, 2014.  EPA (see 81 FR
59313, Aug. 29, 2016) estimates that surrounding communities will significantly benefit from reduction in
emissions of nonmethane organic carbon and methane emissions from landfills.

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 47



Knoxville Area 
Ozone Maintenance Plan

Mark A. Reynolds, Environmental Consultant
apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 48



Nonattainment Area

• On March 12, 2008, EPA promulgated a revised 8-
hour ozone National Ambient Air Quality
Standard (NAAQS) of 75 ppb

• EPA subsequently designated the Knoxville area
as nonattainment for the 8-hour ozone NAAQS on
May 21, 2012

• Knoxville ozone nonattainment area includes part
of Anderson County and all of Blount and Knox
Counties

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 49



Nonattainment Area

• Air quality monitoring data for 2011 through
2013 indicated declining ozone concentrations in
the Knoxville area

• Design value at the controlling monitor was 74
ppb

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 50



Redesignation to Attainment

• On November 14, 2014, TDEC requested that EPA
redesignation the Knoxville Area to attainment

• This request also included the first ozone
maintenance plan

• On July 13, 2015, the EPA approved the
redesignation request and maintenance plan with
an effective date of August 12, 2015

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 51



2nd Ozone Maintenance Plan

• 2nd Maintenance Plan is due 8 years after
effective date of redesignation (August 12, 2023)

• Current ambient monitoring data is below 75 ppb
2008 ozone NAAQS

• Also below 70 ppb 2015 ozone NAAQS

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 52



apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 53



2nd Ozone Maintenance Plan

• Working on emission inventory data
– NOx & VOC emissions for 3 counties
– 2017 base year and 2035 future year
– Show that 2035 emissions are less than 2011

emissions
– 2011 was base year in 1st Maintenance Plan

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 54



2nd Ozone Maintenance Plan

• TVA Bull Run coal plant closure at end of 2023
• TVA Kingston coal plant closure before 2035
• Contingency measures

– Control measures that could be put in place if air 
quality violated NAAQS 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 55



Proposed Timeline

Event Date

Board Briefing May 2023

Send Pre-Draft of SIP to EPA May 2023

Receive comments from EPA June 2023

Public Notice (30-day comment period) June 2023

Public Hearing July 2023

APC Board Approval August 2023

Submit final SIP to EPA August 2023

Deadline to submit final SIP to EPA August 12, 2023

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 56



Questions

Mark A. Reynolds
Environmental Consultant
Tennessee Department of Environment and 
Conservation
Division of Air Pollution Control
mark.a.reynolds@tn.gov
(615) 532-0559

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 57



apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 58



1. Findings and Concerns Shelby County Health Department (SCHD) Technical System Audit
(TSA) Report The chart titled “2019 TSA Audit Report Findings/Concerns &SCHD Response”
(page 4) is a list the remaining finding and concerns and their resolution dates. All revised
and updated SOP’s and a revised Quality Assurance Project Plan(QAPP) have been
submitted to EPA Region 4 for review. To date there is no timetable for receipt of a close
out letter.

Finding 4.5.2 Out of Date Standard Operating Procedures (SOPS)- The EPA required additional 
technical information for the SOPs and on October 26, 2022, the technical consulting work with Joel 
Craig Environmental Consulting began. On October 28, 2022, SCHD received the first revised and 
updated SOP to evaluate for accuracy and usability. To date, all Standard Operating Procedures 
used within the SCHD air Monitoring program have been created or revised and been submitted 
to Region 4 Quality Assurance Section. Each procedure was created or revised by the consultant 
using EPA guidance documents to meet or exceed requirements and standards. 

The Quality Assurance Project Plan (QAPP) was updated to include new instrumentation currently 
being used in the program along with any changes to processes. This revised document was 
submitted for EPA review March 23, 2023. 

Concerns 4.3.1, 4.3.2 All data validation, instrument certification/verification, quality control and 
any other air monitoring related forms have been updated to capture all pertinent information 
along with the SOP’s. With staff review, the consultant updated all forms to meet or exceed EPA 
standards. 

Concern 4.4.3 List of Standard Operating Procedures used by the SCHD Air Program 

1. Ozone Transfer Standard Verification
2. Mass Flow Controller Calibration/Verification (Teledyne API 700/750 Series Gas Dilution

Calibrators)

3. Carbon Monoxide Monitoring using the Teledyne API Models 300U and T300U

4. PM10 Monitoring using the Thermo Environmental 1405 Tapered Element Oscillating
Microbalance

5. PM10/PM2.5/PMcoarse Monitoring using the Teledyne Model T640X

6. Sulfur Dioxide (SO2) Monitoring using Teledyne API Models 100EU and T100U
7. Ozone (O3) Monitoring using Teledyne API Models 400E and T400
8. NO2 and NOy Monitoring Teledyne API ModelsT200 and T200U
9. Monitoring PM2.5 Speciation using Met One SASS Sampler

10. Standard Operating Procedure for Sequential Particulate Speciation System URG 300N
11. Monitoring PM2.5 using the R&P Sequential Model 2025/2025i
12. Monitoring Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) using the Teledyne API T500

13. Standard Operating Procedure for Processing and Validating Air Quality Monitoring Data

1 | P a g e 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 59



Standard Operating Procedures listed above all have been revised and reviewed by current air 
monitoring staff for accuracy and usability and submitted to EPA Region 4 Quality Support office 
for review and approval as of March 20, 2023. The attached schedule has been revised to display 
completion at the time of this report. 

2. SCHD’s Air Monitoring Branch Staffing Update
Joonki Yoon (Technical Specialist) was hired 09/19/2022. Xinya Miao (Technical Specialist) began
her employment on 01/03/2023. Vacant positions remain posted on employment platforms
(Indeed, AAPCA weekly, and LinkedIn) and our local website. All qualified applicants are
interviewed. The hiring process to fill the vacant positions continues.

Yong Cai (Lead Technical Specialist) will continue training new employees and contract workers. 
Joonki Yoon has been trained on both Air Monitoring regulations and site operations. He currently 
can work independently with all filter-based (PM, ozone) analyzers. Training and supervised work 
continue for the remainder of the pollutants and their respective analyzers. Xinya started 
01/03/2023 and is being trained in the same manner. After training, each staff member will 
operate at and be responsible for a specific site. The bid for temporary staffing was awarded to 
Tioga Environmental Consultants, Inc. The signed contract and all accompanying documents have 
been received and are awaiting review and approval from the Shelby County Commission. The 
target date for committee review is March 29, 2023. 

The addition of temporary staff will allow for increased coverage at monitoring sites, a timelier 
data review and decreased work load for current staff once training is complete. Temporary staff 
will be trained by the Lead Technical Specialist in the same manner as current staff. 

In an effort to keep the air monitoring program on track, the air monitoring staff attended the U.S. 
EPA Region 4 Ambient Air Monitoring Workshop in Chattanooga, TN March 28-30, 2023. Their 
mission was to learn new information, gain insight on current processes, look for ways to enhance 
current practices by attending informational sessions and workshops. For program enhancement, 
a trip has been planned for staff to travel to Nashville to observe their day-to-day operations. EPA 
Region 4 Quality and Support staff will also provide a refresher style training for SCHD air 
monitoring staff May 2023. 

3. Title V Program
A chart of the Title V permitting activities, which includes progress details, is attached. The
ordinance to increase Title V fees was approved and signed by Shelby County Mayor Lee Harris on
10/24/2022. Approved copies of the signed ordinance were distributed to the surrounding
municipalities 01/03/2023.
Billing for the upcoming year was mailed the week of 01/03/2023. Ninety (90) percent of fees have
been received with little or no push back related to the fee increase.

Soda Ly (Engineer B) was hired 02/06/2023. Her training is ongoing. The hiring process continues for an 
additional Engineer. 

2 | P a g e 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 60



THIRD QUARTER ATTACHMENTS 

1. 2019 TSA Audit Report Findings/Concerns &SCHD Response

2. Schedule of Standard Operating Procedure Revisions and Submissions

3. Quarterly Update (TITLE V) for TN Air Board March 2023

4. Schedule of Ordinance Adoption

5. Revised Organizational Chart- Pollution Control Branch

3 | P a g e 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 61



2019 TSA Audit Report Findings/Concerns & SCHD Response 

Finding / Concern How was the item resolved / 

Status 

EPA Concurrence 

Finding 4.1.1 Unapproved 

fittings were observed in 

the sampling train of a 

gaseous pollutant. 

Kynar fittings were replaced 

with Teflon fittings 

Submitted 12/30/19 

Completed and closed 

Concern 4.1.2 Moisture 

was observed in the CO 

and NO2 sample lines at 

the STCC site (47-157- 

0100). 

Additional heat tape was added 

to the sample lines 

Submitted 12/30/19 

Completed and closed 

Finding 4.2.1 Logbook 

records indicate 

temperature and relative 

humidity (RH) filter 

conditioning 

requirements were not 

met during some PM10 

filter weighing sessions. 

The PM10 data impacted in 

2016 thru 2018 by the 

temperature and relative 

humidity was reviewed. Data 

was invalidated if conditioning 

requirements were not 

met. The affected data was 

resubmitted to the EPA. 

Submitted 04/23/20 

I finally had a chance to review the 

materials you sent. I appreciate you 

guys doing all this. The explanation 

and highlighted logbooks made things 

much easier. Based on the materials 

provided, I have closed out 4.2.3 and 

agree with the 4.2.1 assessment. Once 

corrections and flags are applied in 

AQS, please send an AMP 350 and I will 

close out 4.2.2 and 4.2.3. 

Closed 06/03/20 

Finding 4.2.2 Traceability 

of laboratory 

standards/equipment 

was not maintained in 

accordance with SOP 

requirements. 

All Certificates of Calibrations 

for the balance and weights 

used for PM10 weighing were 

provided. AMP 350 Report was 

submitted. This finding is 

related to Finding 4.2.1. 

Certifications submitted 

12/30/19 

I finally had a chance to review the 

materials you sent. I appreciate you 

guys doing all this. The explanation 

and highlighted logbooks made things 

much easier. Based on the materials 

provided, I have closed out 4.2.3 and 

agree with the 4.2.1 assessment. Once 

corrections and flags are applied in 

AQS, please send an AMP 350 and I will 

close out 4.2.2 and 4.2.3. 

Closed 06/03/20 

Concern 4.2.3 PM10 filter 

conditioning data 

summary calculations 

were not calculated 

properly and no 

independent validation 

Conditioning temperature and 

RH were recalculated. The 

conditioning data was labeled 

as “as found” if the data logger 

was not available. Any data 

not meeting requirements 

were invalidated. The updated 

I finally had a chance to review the 

materials you sent. I appreciate you 

guys doing all this. The explanation 

and highlighted logbooks made things 

much easier. Based on the materials 

provided, I have closed out 4.2.3 and 

agree with the 4.2.1 assessment. Once 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 62



was conducted to identify 

the mistakes. 

information was provided and 

resubmitted into AQS. This 

concern is related to Finding 

4.2.1. (attachment AMP 350 

Shelby County TN 2016 PM 10 

dataset) 

Submitted 04/23/20 

corrections and flags are applied in 

AQS, please send an AMP 350 and I will 

close out 4.2.2 and 4.2.3. 

Closed 06/03/20 

Concern 4.3.1 Forms 

used to document 

verifications and 

calibrations do not have 

sufficient information to 

fully verify and validate 

data. 

Forms are being revised to 

depict current monitoring 

practices and to meet EPA 

standards. 

All forms were revised and updated 
along with all SOP’s. They were 
submitted to EPA for review March 2023. 
SCHD awaits review/approval and 
receipt of a close out letter. 

Concern 4.3.2 

Information recorded on 

forms and in logbooks 

was incomplete and/or 

missing. 

Forms are being updated and 

included in the revised 

Standard Operating 

Procedures 

All forms were revised and updated 
along with all SOP’s. They were 
submitted to EPA for review March 2023. 
SCHD awaits review/approval and a close 
out letter. 

Concern 4.3.3 

Improvements are 

needed in electronic 

records management 

and storage. 

The Shelby County Air 

Monitoring Branch will 

continue to work with the IT 

Department to improve our 

electronic shared drive. 

Closed 07/21/20 

Concern 4.3.4 

Vulnerabilities were 

observed in SCHD’s PM2.5 

chain of custody. 

New COC (“Shelby County 

Pollution Control PM 2.5 and PM 

10 Chain of Custody Form”) was 

developed and implemented. 

Submitted 04/15/20 

Closed 07/21/20 

Finding 4.4.1 Not all 

quality assurance and 

quality control checks 

(QA/QC) were reported 

to AQS. 

All nightly checks from 2019 

data set were submitted into 

AQS. The AMP 251 QA Raw 

Assessment Report 

(attachment 2019 QA Raw 

Assessment Report AMP251 

1830068 and 2019 QA Raw 

Assessment Report for criteria 

Closed 07/21/20 

5 | P a g e 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 63



pollutants and NO AMP 251 

1830068) was provided. 

Submitted 04/15/20 

Finding 4.4.2 Filter-based 

PM2.5 data has not been 

fully validated. 

The 2016 thru 2018 filter-based 

PM 2.5 data sets have been 

reviewed and 7 updates were 

made to the data set due to 

filters being used that had 

exceeded the 30 day tare time 

frame. These dates of the 

filters affected from Guthrie 1 

are June 26, 2016; November 

17, 2016; November 20, 2016; 
November 23, 2016; November 

26, 2016 and November 29, 

2016. The date of the filter 

affected from the Shelby Farms 

POC 2 sampler was June 7, 

2018. These previous records 

were removed and a Null Value 

Code of AS was inserted into 

AQS for each respective 

date. The AMP 350 Report is 

attached along with the filter 

reports from Inter-Mountain 

Laboratories for 2016 through 

2018. (attachment updated 

2016 thru 2018 Raw Data 
Report for PM 2.5 AMP 350 

1830084) 

Submitted 04/15/20 

Closed 07/21/20 

Concern 4.4.3 Data are 

not being fully validated 

to ensure all 

measurement quality 

objectives are satisfied. 

9/1/22 our Staff Meteorologist 

began assisting with data 

validation. He has he 

knowledge and skillset for this 

task. Once training is complete 

the two newly hired Data 

Analyst will also perform this 

task, adding additional capacity. 

New staff has completed training. Three 
levels of review have been implemented 
to ensure full validation and satisfactory 
measures are obtained. SCHD awaits a 
response/approval and a close out letter. 

6 | P a g e 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 64



Finding 4.5.1 Criteria 

pollutant data were 

collected at SLAMS 

monitoring stations and 

reported to AQS without 

a current approved QAPP. 

The “6” QA flag has been 

inserted for all criteria 

pollutant collected at the 

SLAMS monitoring stations for 

the 2016 thru 2018 data set. 

(see attachment 2016 thru 

2018 Raw Data Report with 6 

flag except for PM 10 hi vol 

AMP350 1830086) 

Closed 07/21/20 

Submitted 04/15/20 

Finding 4.5.2 Standard SCHD hired Joel Craig All SCHD air program’s Standard 
Operating Procedures (SOPs) have been 
revised and updated. They were 
submitted per the attached schedule. 
The Data Handling SOP was created and 
submitted March 20, 2023. SCHD is 
awaiting response/approval and a close 
out letter. 

operating procedures are Environmental Consultant to 

out of date and do not complete the creation and 

reflect current revision of the SOP’s 

practices. A data 10/26/2022. Please see 

handling SOP has not been 
developed. 

attached schedule for additional 
details. 

Concern 4.5.3 Additional 

resources are needed for 

the quality assurance 

component of the 

Department’s monitoring 

program. 

Two Data Analyst have been 

hired. Start dates are 11/01/22 

and 01/03/2023. Salaries were 

increased and vacant positions 

remain posted. All qualified 

applicants will be interviewed. 

The Data Analyst have completed 
training. The air monitoring program now 
utilizes a tiered review which consist of 
the site operator, both data analyst and 
finally the Meteorologist Manager to 
ensure data integrity and compliance. 

7 | P a g e 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 65



Schedule of Standard Operating Procedure Revision and Submission 

Number Document Draft 
Submitted 
to SCHD 

SCHD 
Review 
Completed 

Final 
Completed 

Final 
Submitted 
to EPA 

1 Standard Operating Procedure for Ozone 
Transfer Standard Verification 

10/31/2022 12/8/2022 12/8/2022 12/13/2022 

2 Standard Operating Procedure for Mass 
Flow Controller Calibration/Verification 

10/31/2022 12/8/2022 12/8/2022 12/13/2022 

3 Standard Operating Procedure for 
Monitoring Carbon Monoxide (CO) using 
Teledyne API Models 300E, 300EU and 
T300U 

11/3/2022 12/29/2022 1/2/2023 1/6/2023 

12 Standard Operating Procedure for 
Monitoring PM 10 using Teledyne 
T640/640X 

11/9/2022 12/29/2022 1/2/2023 1/6/2023 

7 Standard Operating Procedure for 
Monitoring Particulate Matter using R&P 
TEOM 1405 

11/12/2022 12/29/2022 1/2/2023 1/6/2023 

5 Standard Operating Procedure for 
Monitoring Sulfur Dioxide (SO2) using 
Teledyne 100EU 

11/22/2022 12/29/2022 1/2/2023 1/6/2023 

9 Standard Operating Procedure for 
Monitoring Ozone (O3) using Teledyne API 
Model 400E and T400 

12/1/2022 12/29/2022 1/2/2023 1/6/2023 

6 Standard Operating Procedure for 
Monitoring Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2)/ (NOy) 
using Teledyne API T200U/200EU 

12/13/2022 12/29/2022 1/2/2023 1/6/2023 

11 Standard Operating Procedure for 
Monitoring Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) using 
Teledyne T500 

12/19/2022 1/2/2023 1/6/2023 1/10/2023 

4 Standard Operating Procedure for 
Monitoring PM 2.5 Speciation using Met 
One SASS Sampler 

12/29/2022 1/12/2023 1/16/2023 1/20/2023 

8 Standard Operating Procedure for 
Sequential Particulate Speciation System 
URG 300N 

1/9/2023 1/23/2023 1/27/2023 1/31/2023 

10 Standard Operating Procedure for 
Monitoring PM2.5 Using R&P Sequential 
Model 2025/2025i 

1/13/2023 1/27/2023 1/31/2023 2/4/2023 

13 Standard Operating Procedure for 
Processing and Validating Air Quality 
Monitoring Data 

1/20/2023 2/3/2023 2/7/2023 3/20/2023 

QAPP Revisions 3/1/2023 3/15/2023 3/19/2023 3/23/2023 

8 | P a g e 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 66



Quarterly Update for TN Air Board 

Major Sources Branch 

March 2023 

1- Plan for Title V fee increase:

The ordinance was approved and signed by County Mayor Lee Harris on 10/24/22.

Copies of the approved ordinance were distributed to the City of Memphis and the surrounding

municipalities January 3, 2023. A chart “Schedule of Ordinance Adoption” is included in this

report.

2- Plan for hiring an engineer:

An engineering job was posted on 9/8/22. Soda Ly (Engineer B) was hired 02/06/2023. The hiring

process continues for an additional Engineer.

3- Progress on inspections:
All inspections are current and on schedule.

4- Progress on the current permitting backlog:

Total Projects 18-Month Old Projects Only

Activity Type Total 
Completed 

YTD 

Total 
Current 
Open 

Projects 

18-M
Completed 

YTD 

18-M
Open Projects 

Renewals (R) 1 9 1 0 

Modifications (M) 10 9 5 0 
1st Permit (1P) 7 0 0 0 

Exemptions (E) 3 1 0 0 

Name Change (NC) 1 0 0 0 
Roll into TV (RTV) 2 0 0 0 

Construction (C) 1 3 0 0 

TV Renewal (TVR) 3 1 3 0 

Initial Filing (IF) 2 0 3 0 

Activity Type 
Total Projects include all projects including the 18-month category. 
Total Completed YTD refers to all projects (Total Projects) completed in 2022. 
Total Current Open Projects is referring to all projects (Total Projects) still open in 2022. Expressed in a 

different way…Total Projects Received YTD 2022 = Total Completed YTD + Total Current Open Projects. 
18-Month term is used in this report to identify projects that are beyond 18-months old timeline
measured from the time an application is logged in the system. It is a subpart of the Total Project
category.
18-Month Completed YTD refers to number of projects in the 18-Month category that were completed in
2022.
18-Month Open Projects refers to number of projects in the 18-Month category that are still open.

9 | P a g e 
apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 67



Below is the list of sources associated with the 18-month-only backlog, engineers who are 

working to resolve that backlog, and the estimated time for the project completion. 

Source Item Engineer Projected Completion 
Quarter 

Valero Refinery 1P, M, R, C, E, 
RTV 

Mark Landry Complete 

Nucor Steel C, M, E, RTV Mark Landry Complete 

Covoro NC, TVR Gregg Fortunato Complete 
Penn-A-Kem M Gregg Fortunato Complete 

Ergon Armor R, M Deborah Liu Complete 

Ergon Asphalt & 
Emulsions, Inc. 

R Deborah Liu Complete 

American Yeast M, TVR Jeff Grill Complete 

St. Jude TVR, E, M, C Wasim Khokhar Complete 

CCL Labels, Inc. IF, 1P Gregg Fortunato Complete 
Mitsubishi TVR, M Gregg Fortunato Complete 

Permitting Descriptions 
Renewals (R): Request to renew an operating permit for a conditional major facility. 

Modifications (M): Changes requested for the operating permits. 
First Permit (1P): Operating permit requests for a completed construction project of a process 
within an existing conditional major facility. 
Exemptions (E): Exemptions requested under Tennessee Rule 1200-3-9-.04. 
Name Change (NC): Facility name/ownership change request. 
Roll into TV (RTV): Request to add completed construction projects into an existing TV operating 
permit. 

Construction (C): Requests to construct a new pollution related process. 
TV Renewal (TVR): Request to renew a TV operating permit. 
Initial Filing (IF): An operating permit request for a previously unpermitted facility. 

10 | P a g e 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 68



Current update for each project: 

Valero Refinery: 

A draft permit is going through public notice period. Notice published 12/15/2022. 
Final permit was issued 03/07/2023. 

Nucor Steel Memphis, Inc.: 

A consolidated construction permit was issued on 11/18/22, The source 

submitted an updated TV application on 11/22/22. The draft permit is 

going through public notice period. Notice published 12/21/2022. Final 

permit was issued 03/09/2023. 

Covoro: 

The final permit was issued 11/22/22. 

Penn-A-Kem: 

The draft permit is under EPA review. The draft permit was sent to the EPA on 
11/18/22. The final permit was issued 12/23/2022. 

Ergon Armor: 

The final permit was issued on 11/15/22. 

Ergon Asphalt and Emulsions: 

The final permit was issued 12/15/22. 

American Yeast: 

A draft permit is complete for source review. The draft permit is going through 

the public notice period. Public notice issued 12/21/2022. Final permit issued 

02/15/2023. 

St. Jude: 

A draft permit is being developed. We are anticipating finishing a draft 

permit and a source review by 12/30/22. Final permit was issued 

02/28/2023. 

CCL: 

A draft permit is being developed. We are anticipating finishing a draft 

permit and a source review by 12/30/22. Final Permit was issued 

03/01/2023. 

11 | P a g e 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 69



Mitsubishi: 

The draft permit is going through the public notice period which ends 12/29/22. 
Final permit issued 02/28/2023. 

12 | P a g e 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 70



Schedule of Ordinance Adoption 

Jurisdiction Ordinance Received Date of Adoption 

City Of Memphis 01/04/2022 02/22/2022* 

Arlington 01/03/2023 11/02/2020* 

Bartlett 01/03/2023 Pending** 

Collierville 01/03/2023 03/27/2023* 

Germantown 01/03/2023 Pending** 

Lakeland 01/03/2023 Pending** 

Millington 01/03/2023 10/12/2020* 

*Ordinance Attached

** Ordinance Adoption process ongoing

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 71



apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 72



apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 73



apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 74



apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 75



apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 76



apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 77



apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 78



apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 79



apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 80



apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 81



apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 82



SHELBY COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT 
BUREAU OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH SERVICES 

POLLUTION CONTROL SECTION 

Field Services 
Supervisor A 

Vacant 

Director 

Division of Health 

Michelle Taylor 

Deputy Division Director 

Travis Green 

Deputy Administrator 

Environmental Health Services 

Cook-Pryor, Karen 

Bureau 

Kasia Smith 

Director 

- Alexander

Manager 
Owens, Sonja 

Manager 

Smith, Larry 

Manager Meterologist 

Mike Goldstein 

Minor Sources 

Supervisor A 

Dugard, Chad 

Major Sources 
Supervisor A 

Khokhar, Wasim 

Vacant 

Technical Specialist 

Vacant 

Meterologist 

Song, Yang 

Technical Specialist 

Miao, Xinyu 

Technical Specialist 

Planning 

Supervisor A 

Boyd, Christopher 

Nichols, Jura 

Technical Specialist 

Anna Gretz 

Public Health Data 
Analyst 

Bradford, Chiqueta 

Technical Specialist 

Yoon, Joonki 

Technical Specialist 

Doherty, Rebel 

Lead Technical Specialist 

Angela Danovi 

Public Health Data 
Analyst 

Lott, LaTrina 

Technical Specialist 

Morella, Alan 

Lead Technical 
Specialist 

Dr. Yong Cai 

Lead Technical 
Specialist 

Smith, Ruben 

Technical Specialist 

Grill, Jeffrey 

Engineer 

Terry, Theo 

Technical Specialist 

Air Monitoring 
Supervisor A 

Mitchell, Brenda 

Technical Specialist 

Landry, Mark 

Engineer 

Smith, Veronica 

Technical Specialist 

Brown, Betty 

Lead Technical Specialist 

Liu, Deborah 

Lead Engineer 

Vacant 

Engineer 

Stetraquam Calvin 

Technical Specialist 

Moyer, William 

Technical Specialist 

Ly, Soda 

Engineer 

Gibson, Jasmyne 

Technical Specialist 

Fortunato, Gregg 

Lead Engineer 

Water Quality 
Supervisor A 

Tyson, Warkella 

Vacant 

Manager 

Dugger, Johnathan 

Administrative Tech 

Ashford, Marshell 

Office Coordinator 

Lindgren, Lorri 

AQIB 

apc-board_packet_May-10-2023 83


